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The new AirwAys

wiTh A sTAFF OF 760, AirwAys is A 
MAJOr eMPLOyer. ArOUnD 400  
OF ThOse sTAFF Are in ChrisTChUrCh, 
100 in AUCKLAnD, 130 in weLLinGTOn 
AnD The reMAinDer sPreAD ArOUnD  
new ZeALAnD AnD sOMe OVerseAs. 

yOUr sAFeTy is Their PriMe COnCern. 

AirwAys sTAFF Are COMPeTenT AnD 
eXPerienCeD, wiTh 30% hAVinG Been 
wiTh AirwAys MOre ThAn 20 yeArs. 

COnTrOLLinG OVer A MiLLiOn Air 
TrAFFiC MOVeMenTs A yeAr, AirwAys 
This yeAr AChieVeD A neT OPerATinG 
PrOFiT AFTer TAX OF $9.3 MiLLiOn.
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Photograph by Christopher hentschel 
Airways Technician

For Airways technical and maintenance staff, their workplace 
spans hilltop sites and mountain peaks as they maintain critical 
navigational infrastructure around New Zealand.

Christopher Hentschel photographed his colleague Andrey 
Sosnovskiy retuning DVOR antennas at sunrise, during a 
maintenance expedition to Mount Mary near Lake Pukaki.

Many of the images in this annual report were 
taken by Airways staff, who have generously 
shared their photographic skill and passion for 
the aviation sector. A short acknowledgement and 
description accompanies each photograph taken 
by a staff member.
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The 2011-12 year has been a year 
of recovery and growth. It has been 
a year of outstanding commitment 
from all our staff, particularly those 
in Christchurch, many of whom 
are dealing with difficult personal 
circumstances. We have recovered 
strongly from a series of natural 
disasters, and experienced growth in 
the size and success of our business.

Our $9.3 million net operating profit after tax (NOPAT) is a 
strong performance at a time when others in the aviation 
sector are struggling even to reach profitability. Fuel prices, 
economic uncertainty and flat demand are a big risk to 
New Zealand’s economic future. However, while the 
aviation sector is beleaguered, Airways, through innovation 
and determination, has experienced growth in virtually all 
parts of the business.

Our goal has been to create a business that can withstand 
harsh economic conditions and natural disasters.  
The Canterbury earthquakes and the Chilean ash cloud 
were the pivot points that convinced the Board and 
management we needed to build a business which would 
not be knocked off track by factors outside of our control.

In response we invited staff to join a team to create the 
strategy for the new Airways. It was significant that 10% of 
our 760 staff put up their hand to be part of Mana  
(Making A New Airways). The team selected was a mini 
Airways – controllers from regional towers, engineers, 

HR staff, managers, accountants and software experts 
came together, to commit to building a great business. 
The team’s brief was enhanced communication and the 
creation of more jobs.

On 1 July 2012 the new Airways began its journey to
triple revenue, double profit and employ an additional
200 people by 2020.

The growth experienced during the 2011-12 year creates 
a solid platform for the ambitions within Mana. The 
significant financial improvement over the past year is 
driven less by price increases (relatively static against key 
indices) and more by performance improvements in our 

core air traffic control business, in training, and by new 
business developments in markets like the Middle East, 
Asia and South Africa. 

An important development during the year has been a 
new approach to relationships with airports. We have 
consciously broadened our perspective on our customer 
– the aviation industry as a whole. We have strengthened 
our investment, in time and people, with airports. As part 
of the Mana process we embedded senior management 

MessAGe FrOM  
The ChAir AnD 
ChieF eXeCUTiVe

On 1 July 2012 the new AirwAys 
begAn its JOurney tO triple 
Our revenue, dOuble prOfit 
And emplOy An AdditiOnAl  
200 peOple by 2020.
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susan paterson 
Chairperson

ed sims  
Chief Executive

resource in Wellington International Airport to find out what 
airports really need and want from us. That information is 
helping shape the new Airways. 

A highlight of the year was the introduction of the 
Airways service and pricing framework. This involved 
an unprecedented level of consultation with the sector. 
Positive feedback was received from virtually everyone 
who attended roadshows or was consulted about the 
frameworks. While in some cases the general aviation 
sector faces price increases as we rebalance charges 
to reflect those creating the costs at Airways, we have 
responded to their feedback and concerns, and initiated 
some moves to make the changeover to the new system 
less arduous for them.

The outcome of the ATC’s collective was a sensible 
outcome for staff and for the organisation. It was pleasing 
that agreement was reached speedily. Negotiations took 
place over three months and were open, honest, direct 
and realistic. We are looking forward to developing a more 
strategic relationship with all our collective bargaining agents 
for the benefit of the business and to create more high 
quality jobs.

During the year we experienced more earthquakes in 
Christchurch. The quakes have had a massive impact on our 
people in Christchurch and we would like to acknowledge 
their resilience and their commitment during this time. 
One year after the tragic February earthquake we gathered 
together to remember the year, and to remember our staff 
member, air traffic controller Jill Murphy who died in the 
February quake. World Cup winning All Blacks captain Richie 
McCaw even joined us to cook breakfast for 300 or so 
hungry staff. He’s a keen aviator, and one of our customers. 
He flies helicopters, gliders and fixed wing planes and we 
thank him for playing his part in helping us acknowledge the 
year gone, and look forward to the year ahead.

The financial result owes a great deal to Airways training 
arm, which has had a highly profitable year. A key part of 
the success was the contract to train GACA students from 

Saudi Arabia. Staff from the training centre have done a 
great job accommodating the students. From having to 
create a new ATC school in Palmerston North after the 
large quake, to supporting students through illness and 
accidents, our staff did a great job. The students were 
made to feel comfortable in their new post-earthquake 
classrooms, themed to create a small piece of Saudi Arabia 
in the middle of the Manawatu. Agility from Airways and 
Massey University showed how successful partnerships can 
be formed to generate profits for New Zealand business. 

Airways financial result was a solid one. Arguably our  
core air navigation service revenue grew by stimulating  
a more cost-effective operating environment for our  
airline customers. 

With fuel at a new norm above $100 per barrel, optimised 
flight planning, which reduces fuel burn and from which 
Airways has saved its airline customers millions of dollars, 
has become more critical than ever. 

A highlight Of the yeAr wAs 
the intrOductiOn Of the 
AirwAys service And pricing 
frAmewOrk. this invOlved 
An unprecedented level Of 
cOnsultAtiOn with the sectOr.
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In May Airways signed a memorandum of understanding 
in Beijing to pave the way for joint training programmes in 
areas such as safety management systems and air traffic 
control. Airways signed the MOU with the Civil Aviation 
Management Institute of China (CAMIC) on the first day 
of a week-long visit to China by a business delegation led 
by Wellington Mayor Celia Wade-Brown. China is expected 
to build around 150 new airports in the next 10 years. 
Building on our good reputation, earned from installing the 
Flight Billing system across the whole of China, Airways 
has the ability to play a major role in maximising safety in 
China’s huge – and rapidly-expanding – aviation industry.

We haven’t hesitated to go after business in order to 
continue the growth of the new Airways. We’ve sought to 
establish a presence in places like Dubai, Abu Dhabi and 
China. Credit must be given to New Zealand Trade and 
Enterprise and Ministry of Foreign Affairs for helping us 
gain a foothold in markets. We also need to acknowledge 
and thank a number of our Ambassadors and their staff, 
particularly those in Beijing, Abu Dhabi and Saudi Arabia.

While our core domestic air traffic control role and safety 
will always be of prime importance, Airways Board is 
intensely interested in our overseas activity and has played 
an important role in giving guidance and advice gleaned 
from their experiences with other businesses in places 
like Abu Dhabi and Malaysia. This experience has been 
invaluable in helping us shape our proposals and contacts.

One of the most important metrics we report against is 
safety. We are all operating in an increasingly changing and 
complex aviation environment. Expanding commercial jet 
activity also comes with an increase in general aviation 
movements, including parachutes, paragliding and alpine 
ski flights. This greatly increases the complexity of our 
skies. Managing separation in challenging terrain and 
weather conditions leads us to a view that we must 
broaden our safety indicators. This means taking a more 
risk-based approach as part of our Safety Management 
System, in addition to monitoring loss of separation.  
We are confident that flying in New Zealand has never 
been safer. Safety will always be the top priority of all  
of our staff.

Our record of reliability during the year was a further 
source of satisfaction. Nevertheless any failure is one too 
many, and 27 May saw a failure of the CATIII system in 
Auckland’s heavy fog. While not compromising safety,  
this did cause preventable disruption to jet travellers.  
Since then the system has operated with 100% reliability.  
Overall, total system reliability measured a very high 99.94%. 

Gearing up for the Rugby World Cup was a monumental 
effort for our staff. The entire business was involved in 
activities. We were determined to achieve 100% reliability 
of our systems while the Cup was in progress, and we 
were conscious that not just our reputation, but the 
reputation of New Zealand was on the line. The opening 
day witnessed the highest ever number of seamless aircraft 
movements around the country, and weeks of delay-free 
operations matched events on the pitch, as one of New 
Zealand’s great successes from the tournament. 

During the year 98.6% of all scheduled maintenance was 
completed against a target of 98%. Airways continues 
to stay at the forefront of technology improvements 
in aviation while keeping a high level of availability of 
systems. Some of the key projects successfully undertaken 
during the year were the replacement and commissioning 
of the aeronautical message switching system (which 
provides critical aeronautical messaging between control 
towers and the air traffic control centres and systems), 
continuing the upgrading of lighting cables at Auckland and 
Christchurch airports, and providing lighted taxiway signs at 
Wellington airport. The runway lights at Queenstown were 
installed on schedule and to budget.

In closing, the Board and management are pleased with 
the great progress made in defining a clear strategy 
with everybody at Airways. We can all be proud of these 
first steps in delivering that strategy. The organisation is 
committed to tripling revenue, doubling profit and creating 
more jobs and we’ll remain focussed on delivering against 
our aspirations.

The Chinese philosopher Lao-tzu coined the phrase  
“A journey of a thousand miles begins with a small step”.  
At Airways New Zealand, this financial year marks progress 
on an exciting and ambitious journey.

susan Paterson 
Chairperson

ed sims  
Chief Executive
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we hAven’t hesitAted tO gO 
After business in Order tO 
cOntinue the grOwth Of the 
new AirwAys. we’ve sOught 
tO estAblish A presence in 
plAces like dubAi, Abu dhAbi 
And chinA.

Photograph by sarah ross  
Christchurch Tower Air Traffic Controller

It’s a breathtaking view from her ‘office’ in the iconic Christchurch 
control tower, whatever the weather or time of day brings, says 
Air Traffic Controller Sarah Ross.

She captured this close-up image of the landmark which 
provides a spectacular first impression for visitors flying  
into Christchurch.

“I love being immersed in the environment I’m controlling, and I 
really enjoy the mix of operations we have at Christchurch, from 
light training aircraft to B737 circuits and helicopters,” Sarah says.

Aviation is Sarah’s passion - she holds her private pilot’s licence, 
is currently learning to fly a taildragger aeroplane, and graduated 
last year as a Massey Scholar with a first class bachelor’s degree 
in aviation management.
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snAPshOT 2011-12

TOTAL nUMBer OF Air  
MOVeMenTs Calendar year 2011

$164.3million

TOTAL reVenUe

$9.3million 
nOPAT

99.94%
CriTiCAL sysTeMs 
AVAiLABiLiTy

1400
eXTrA FLiGhTs hAnDLeD 
DUrinG The rUGBy 
wOrLD CUP 2% increase, over Sept 2010

sTAFF DeLiVerinG serViCes in 
new ZeALAnD AnD ArOUnD 
The wOrLD

760

1,024,200
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LOOKinG TO 
The FUTUre
Airways has embarked on an 
ambitious vision for growth and 
value creation. during the 2011-12 
year Airways transformed in 
response to the rapidly  
changing global economic and 
aviation environment. 

We are creating world class services for our customers by 
becoming more than a functional, technology focussed 
business, while maintaining safe and stable operations. 
 
By 2020 we will grow from a valuation of $117 million  
to a valuation of $420 million. 

This is a radical transformation. It requires a quantum 
change in Airways culture, customer focus, people 
capabilities, and structure. It will be introduced  
without any risk of disruption to services or safety.

hOw did we creAte the blueprint? 

Teams of volunteers were selected from within the  
business to work exclusively on the transformation project. 
The change was led from within by a large group of 
experienced and motivated staff.

The process was highly consultative, with a large 
proportion of the time and budget spent on face-to-face 
communications with staff across New Zealand.

Twenty-five new roles were created and 11 disestablished, 
an overall increase in staff numbers. The new structure 
will enable us to work in partnership with the sector to 
maximise future opportunities for us all.
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During the process we worked directly with one of  
our customers in a strong, collaborative relationship.  
We identified and resolved ‘pain points’. We gained 
a deeper understanding of our customers’ data and 
technology requirements. 

We have refined our business selection tools and 
processes and established an investment committee 
to develop and nurture new business ideas under the 
Ventures arm of Airways. 

The new AirwAys MODeL 
wiLL BeTTer serViCe OUr 
VisiOn FOr GrOwTh AnD 
ADAPTABiLiTy ThrOUGh:

 TwO DynAMiC CUsTOMer 
AnD PrOFiT FOCUsseD 
BUsinesses – A sysTeM 
OPerATOr AnD A 
VenTUres BUsiness

 sUPPOrTeD By A BesT 
PrACTiCe shAreD 
serViCe FUnCTiOn

 UniTeD By A COMMOn 
PUrPOse AnD sPiriT 
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OUr VALUes
we Are sAFe

we VALUe eACh OTher

we Are GOOD AT whAT we DO
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OUr VisiOn
TO Be A Key PLAyer 
in GLOBAL Air 
nAViGATiOn serViCes.

we wOrK wiTh 
OUr CUsTOMers TO 
GeT AirCrAFT AnD 
Their PAssenGers 
where They wAnT 
TO GO sAFeLy AnD 
eFFiCienTLy. we DrAw 
On OUr TeAMwOrK 
AnD eXPerTise TO 
GrOw The VALUe  
OF OUr BUsiness.

OUr MissiOn

Photograph by Mark Adeane 
Airways Charting Specialist

Mark Adeane describes rush hour at Wellington Airport as looking 
“a bit disorderly” to an outsider – “but if you watch for a while 
there’s really a rhythm to it – our air traffic controllers do a great 
job at bringing order.”
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CeLeBrATinG 
OUr sUCCess 

16 | AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011-12



A winninG resULT FOr The  
ALL BLACKs – AnD FOr AirwAys.

A guArAnteed win 

We delivered the required service, 24/7, throughout 
the country during RWC 2011. People were trained and 
positioned to ensure service provision even outside 
normal service periods. Annual leave was delayed and staff 
were qualified at a number of regional locations so they 
could be deployed to ensure back-up. In air traffic control 
centres at Christchurch and Auckland back-up coverage 
was also in place. This required constant change as airline 
schedules were revised, requiring close communication 
with customers. Our Systems Group increased planning 
and maintenance to ensure availability during RWC 2011. 
Qualified technical staff were positioned at key locations so  
an immediate response was available, should a problem arise.

Our peOple 

Airways has people from many nations. Although the 
workload was high it was also a time to celebrate our 
diversity and get in behind our national teams. Airways 
sponsored an internal supporters programme. 
 
The Air Blacks – the internal promotional team – ensured 
each location participated, and commemorative clothing 
was designed.

When the noise of the first haka died away and the ball 
was in the air we knew we and our industry partners were 
match fit and ready. When the final whistle blew we had 
facilitated the transport of more people throughout our 
country than at any time in the past and we never dropped 
the ball. Our ATCs and techs delivered uninterrupted, safe 
service – at times facing traffic levels 50% higher than 
usual. Our core jet routes handled an additional 10-15% 
increase in air traffic.

Rugby World Cup 2011 – the most 
significant sporting event in our 
recent history. But rugby was not 
the only focus, it was also about 
showcasing New Zealand as a world 
class tourist destination. Facing 
unprecedented traveller levels, the 
aviation community had to move 
people safely and without delay. 

trAining fOr the event 

Just like the All Blacks, success for Airways was not left to 
chance. Airways planned and trained. We understood we 
had a significant responsibility to support our airline and 
airport customers as well as the NZ Inc brand.

We researched the demands on the air traffic network, 
identifying the times and places where demand would 
challenge airport capacity. Advance traffic modelling 
projected RWC airline schedules, and fed the information 
back to customers to amend their plans, minimising  
delays and operating costs.

Photograph by Geoff Feisst 
Auckland Tower Senior Controller

During the Rugby World Cup 2011, air traffic controllers 
throughout the country experienced some of the busiest traffic 
days ever recorded in New Zealand aviation history.

But the highlight for Geoff Feisst wasn’t just the abundance of 
aircraft on Auckland Airport’s tarmac – it was also congratulating 
All Blacks captain Richie McCaw on a job well done, and 
photographing him boarding a flight holding the Webb Ellis 
trophy aloft.

“A few of us from work were lucky enough to get out on the 
tarmac with other airside permitted staff, to give the All Blacks 
a bit of a cheer as they boarded the plane. For a brief moment 
Richie was on his own and I happened to be standing beside 
him,” Geoff recalls. 

“It was a one-handed hand shake though, as he was holding that 
trophy for dear life in the other.”
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This AnnUAL rePOrT  
reFLeCTs The FiVe Key 
AirwAys sTrATeGiC 
OBJeCTiVes: 

sAFe AnD reLiABLe
heLPinG CUsTOMers  
TO sUCCeeD
MOTiVATeD AnD  
PrePAreD wOrKFOrCe
COMMerCiALLy 
sUCCessFUL 
GrOw The BUsiness

sAfe And reliAble grOw the businessmOtivAted And  
prepAred wOrkfOrce

cOmmerciAlly  
successful

helping custOmers  
tO succeed
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Photograph by Mark Costello 
Ohakea Tower Chief Controller

Mark Costello photographed the Airways mobile control tower  
at dusk, during the Royal New Zealand Air Force’s Exercise 
Skytrain at Alexandra Airfield in March 2012.

“This is the longest deployment yet of an Airways mobile  
control tower to a remote location,” says Mark, who manages  
the relationship between Airways and RNZAF and wears an 
RNZAF Squadron leader uniform to his workplace in the tower.
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sAFe AnD 
reLiABLe

During the year there were 45 incidents where technical 
separation standards were not met, out of a total of 
1.1 million air traffic movements. Given Airways goal of 
zero loss of separation incidents, additional operational 
measures were put in place as follows:
 
•	 establishing	live	risk	registers	at	operational	units	to	

ensure oversight of risk, both technical and human,  
are at the appropriate level

•	 combining	tier	two	audits	with	operational	reviews	 
in regional units to ensure complete reviews of  
operating practices

•	 	introducing	response	training	to	some	areas,	including	
regular simulator training for low traffic volume towers

•	 planning	an	extensive	normal	operations	safety	survey,	
NOSS, in late 2012 throughout all radar sectors, 
international towers and for the first time including two 
regional towers in the survey.

In the coming financial year safety management will be 
brought into line with ICAO and new CAA requirements 
and will integrate risk-based safety thinking throughout  
the company.
 
The safety and audit teams have worked together to 
upgrade the Aviation Quality Database. It will utilise an 
online risk module to link incident investigation and audits 

Safety will always be Airways number one priority.

to risk based measures. Safety and Audit will ensure that 
in 2013 comprehensive company-wide risk registers are 
in place and actively utilised by staff to assess risk levels 
within the business. There will be a greater focus on 
high risk occurrences rather than just loss of separation 
incidents in the year ahead.
 
A targeted human factors training package will address the 
most common causal factors. It will provide information 
to frontline staff and managers on how and why human 
errors are made when dealing with complex systems,  
and how to recognise and address these errors.

buildings 

In Christchurch, due to continuing aftershocks, buildings 
are checked regularly. While there is some evidence of 
minor damage, the overall strength of the structures 
is unaffected. Earthquake repairs have begun on the 
Christchurch Campus buildings.

Airways head office in Wellington, the Majestic Centre,  
is a moderate risk building in terms of its assessed 
structural performance in an earthquake. The building  
is currently being strengthened to 67% so that the  
building moves from moderate to low risk.

sAfe And reliAble grOw the businessmOtivAted And  
prepAred wOrkfOrce

cOmmerciAlly  
successful

helping custOmers  
tO succeed
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sysTeM reLiABiLiTy  
AnD MAinTenAnCe

Overall system availability of 99.94% was achieved for  
the year. Airways continues to stay at the forefront of 
technology improvements in aviation while keeping a  
high level of availability of systems.

Key projects during the year:

•	 replacement	and	commissioning	of	the	aeronautical	
message switching system which provides critical 
aeronautical messaging between control towers and the 
air traffic control centres and systems

•	 continuing	the	upgrading	of	lighting	cables	at	Auckland	
and Christchurch airports

•	 providing	lighted	taxiway	signs	at	Wellington	Airport

•	 replacing	most	of	our	telephone	PABX	systems	at	our	
control towers, Christchurch air traffic centre and main 
support offices at Wellington and Christchurch

•	 the	final	testing	phases	for	the	replacement	of	the	
New Zealand and Oceanic air traffic control system 
computers and upgrading of their operating systems

•	 commencing	the	upgrading	of	communication	cables	 
at Auckland Airport

•	 upgrading	of	air	traffic	control	systems	and	testing	of	
changes with new flight plan parameters

•	 final	integration	of	the	Arrivals	Manager	at	Auckland	 
with the Airways flow management software. 

Airways provides international consulting services to 
assist in the replacement of air traffic control systems and 
upgrading of navigation, communication and surveillance 
systems as part of major airport redevelopments in Asia 
and the Middle East. Contracts include the Philippines, 
Oman and Kuwait. We support customers in China, 
Saudi Arabia, Fiji, Papua New Guinea and New Zealand 
for billing of air navigation services. Airways continues to 
provide software services to world leading air traffic control 
manufacturers Thales, Lockheed Martin and Frequentis 
and has assisted in the installation of new air traffic control 
systems in Kazakhstan.

AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011-12 | 21



QueenstOwn

Over a million people a year fly into beautiful Queenstown, 
with passenger numbers increasing by 30% in the past 
three years. Airways has responded to the town’s strong 
growth to ensure Queenstown’s skies remain safe and 
cope with the larger numbers.
 
Airways Performance Based Navigation (PBN) programme 
utilises satellite navigation. It enables aircraft to fly curved 
tracks and not be dependent on ground based navigation 
aids. Greater design flexibility, improved safety, economic 
and environmental benefits are achieved. 

New flight tracks at Queenstown, Invercargill and Dunedin 
will be implemented in November 2012. This has been a 
major project during the year, requiring close coordination 
with the airlines, airports, General Electric who did 
the original Required Navigation Performance (RNP) 
procedures into Queenstown, and the CAA.
 
At Queenstown these procedures will allow up to 10 
movements an hour compared to the current four in  
bad weather conditions and increased payload for 
departing aircraft.

Airways five-year strategic air traffic management plan  
for Queenstown is being implemented as the  
frequency of jet flight operations increases, both  
domestic and international.

The multi-lateration surveillance system that was installed at 
Queenstown in 2009 is being expanded by incorporating 
Automatic Dependent Surveillance – Broadcast, (ADS-B). 
ADS-B is satellite based surveillance utilising GPS position 
data. It is the next national surveillance system from 2021 
when the current conventional radars will be life cycled 
out. This new ADS-B surveillance capability will extend 
in controlled airspace over Dunedin, Invercargill and the 
Tasman Sea by September 2013.

Airways is working closely with the Queenstown Airport 
Corporation to enable its growth plans to happen  
smoothly and safely.

upper AirspAce Agreement

Under a joint commercial agreement with Tonga, Samoa, 
Niue and the Cook Islands, Airways provides air traffic 
management services in the states’ upper airspace.

Airways provides en-route air traffic control services using 
its Oceanic Control System. This allows airlines flying over 
the states’ territories to participate in leading edge en-route 
services including ASPIRE (Asia Pacific Initiative to Reduce 
Emissions) flights, user preferred routes, dynamic airborne 
re-routes and reduced 30-mile separations. 

With safety and reliability as the primary focus, Airways 
works closely with the states’ ANSPs, hosting an 
operational meeting annually, resolving operational issues 
and providing familiarisation visits to Airways facilities. 
Notably as an example of the good will in the region, 
airlines provide familiarisation flights to/from Auckland 
and Airways installed the first PASNet (Pacific Aviation 
Safety Network) ground earth station at Tonga to resolve 
communication issues between Fua’amotu Tower 
and Auckland Oceanic Centre. These all contribute to 
enhancing safety and reliability in the region.

Aspire

The ASPIRE (Asia and Pacific Initiative to Reduce Emissions) 
partnership started in 2008 to reduce aviation emissions 
in Asia/Pacific. Members include Airways New Zealand, 
Airservices Australia, the Federal Aviation Administration (US), 
the Civil Aviation Bureau Japan, the Civil Aviation Authority  
of Singapore and Aeronautical Radio of Thailand Limited.

The six partners are committed to working with airlines 
and other stakeholders to promote operational procedures 
and standards that reduce the environmental footprint 
in all phases of a flight. They measure improvements in 
the environmental performance of air transport, develop 
shared performance metrics, and publicise their initiatives, 
goals and progress to the global aviation community.

sAfe And reliAble grOw the businessmOtivAted And  
prepAred wOrkfOrce

cOmmerciAlly  
successful

helping custOmers  
tO succeed

heLPinG CUsTOMers  
TO sUCCeeD
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Airways New Zealand was a founding member of ASPIRE. 
We support initiatives such as the ASPIRE Daily flight 
programme. These daily flights are available on long-haul 
routes where multiple emission-reducing best practices  
are available in a ‘business-as-usual’ fashion during 
all flights. Each ASPIRE Daily route is evaluated by the 
International Air Transport Association and awarded a  
star ranking. Auckland-San Francisco is a four-star ASPIRE 
Daily route where airline customers get fuel-saving 
practices such as user preferred flight plan routes,  
dynamic airborne re-routing and optimised descent profiles 
through tailored arrivals. 

Airways is currently evaluating several other city-pairs to 
be part of ASPIRE Daily. The implementation of Arrivals 
Manager for arrivals into Auckland will assist this process, 
as time based arrivals management is one of the criteria 
IATA uses when awarding star rankings. 

reducing flight delAys  
helps sAve the plAnet

During the year Airways reduced delays for domestic jet 
aircraft by 29% and for domestic turboprop aircraft by 
3.5% compared to the previous year. As jets use more 
fuel this reduction equated to 362,942 kilograms less CO2 
emissions from jets, and, 12,240 less for turboprops. This 
was a total reduction of 401,620 kilograms of CO2 in the 
atmosphere as a result of Airways work.

During the year Airways (in conjunction with airlines and 
Auckland International Airport Ltd) designed four, and 
commissioned two, satellite based approaches serving 
Auckland Airport. These four approaches are joined with 
efficient shorter arrival paths, saving up to three minutes 
for each arrival and allowing a continuous descent “low 
power and noise” approach profile to the runways. This 
has reduced the environmental impact through less fuel 
burned, reduced CO2 emissions, and a lower overall noise 
footprint, while helping airlines to maintain ideal on-time 
performance goals. These collaborative initiatives with our 
key industry stakeholders demonstrate the commitment 
Airways has to the NZ Inc. brand and to our responsibility 
for reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

Photograph by Christopher hentschel 
Airways Technician

Accessing remote and mountainous locations via road is often 
difficult – or impossible. On a trip to Mount Nicholas near 
Queenstown, Christopher Hentschel joined Queenstown-based 
Technical Systems Specialist Craig Anstiss to work on the VHF 
and multilateration antenna systems, in knee-deep snow. Their 
ride off the mountain was by helicopter, with stunning panoramic 
views along Lake Wakatipu back to Queenstown.

“It was an interesting trip - on the way to Queenstown, I knew 
one of the Mt Cook ATR pilots and flew in the jump seat,” 
Christopher recalls.
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VISION 2015 

Vision 2015 defines the future air  
traffic management needs of New 
Zealand. It was built on the work of  
an industry-driven project team and 
provided an outline of how a whole  
of system approach could work. 

Key to the vision is the focus on air traffic enabling 
technologies and procedures. Collaborative Arrivals 
Manager (CAM) was introduced in 2008 and relies on 
airlines sequencing aircraft. It has significantly reduced 
airborne holding. The next step is an Arrivals Manager 
which will support tactical sequencing of arrival traffic.  
The system will be introduced for Auckland arrivals over  
the coming year and will represent a significant step forward 
in trajectory modelling. 

Enhanced surveillance capabilities will continue based on 
a combination of multilateration and automatic dependent 
surveillance broadcast (ADS-B) technologies. Some of 
this capability already exists at Auckland Airport and in 
the Queenstown basin. The Southern extension project 
will deliver surveillance coverage for the southern area 
of the South Island. Pre-planning will ensure enhanced 
surveillance coverage is maintained with an appropriate 
replacement policy when existing radar are retired at end 
of design life in 2021. 
 
The transition to area navigation (RNAV) continues with 
the Performance Based Navigation (PBN) programme 
delivering a series of enhancements over the next four 
years. RNAV procedures already exist at our busiest airports 
and will be refined during the next four years and similar 
procedures will be introduced at regional airports. 

Airport Collaborative Decision Making (A-CDM) was 
introduced into the programme in late 2011 and will 
be further developed in 2012-13. The programme will 
provide enhanced decision making through the sharing of 
information between stakeholders. While initially focussed 
on simple data exchange, the project could provide the 
umbrella for all future enhancements for aircraft operations 
at airports. 

Vision 2015 continues to provide the basis for system wide 
enhancements to air traffic management in New Zealand, 
and future improvements will provide the basis from which 
Airways can maintain its position as a leading ANSP.

% PBN rOuteS cOmPleted

100% of the RNAV arrivals and departures routes in Main 
Trunk Terminals and 70% of Enroute RNAV routes have 
been completed.

The design of new RNAV and RNP routes and procedures 
south of Christchurch continued during the year for 
November 2012 implementation.

SAFe ANd relIABle GrOW tHe BuSINeSSmOtIVAted ANd  
PrePAred WOrKFOrce

cOmmercIAllY  
SucceSSFul

HelPING cuStOmerS  
tO Succeed

cuStOmer SAtISFActION

While the annual survey of customers in March 2012 at 
78% was slightly below the target of 80%, this represents 
an improvement on the 76% result in the 2011 survey.
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Photograph by RNZAF photographer

Airways Ohakea Tower staff played a critical role in one of the 
most memorable events on the New Zealand aviation calendar 
in 2012 – the Royal New Zealand Air Force’s 75th Anniversary 
Air Show at Ohakea, held on March 31.

Mark Costello, Clare Gower, Jason Robson, Martin Edwards, 
Rex Brereton and Hadley Cave kept control over the busy 
airspace as 100 light aircraft took to the skies throughout  
the event – providing a diverse mix of traffic for controllers  
and some spectacular aerobatic displays for the thousands  
of spectators.

Air New Zealand’s B777 aircraft in distinctive All Blacks colours 
formed a fitting backdrop for the air show.
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MOTiVATeD 
AnD PrePAreD 
wOrKFOrCe

Our peOple, Our strength

In a technology-focussed business, it is our people and 
their passion for aviation that drives Airways success.

frOm Adversity cOmes strength

The resilience of Airways staff during the Christchurch 
earthquakes was recognised with a significant win in  
the global aviation Jane’s Air Traffic Control Awards.  
The awards recognised the dedication and commitment 
of our frontline people, who maintained safety and 
professionalism throughout the February earthquake and 
the thousands of aftershocks. It also recognised Airways for 
displaying the same ‘can do’ attitude during the ash cloud 
event of 2011 that threatened to shut down our skies.

In another award, The Jim Collins Award was given to the 
air traffic controllers of Christchurch for providing essential 
safety services during and following the earthquakes 
– yet another well-deserved testament to our people.

One year after the quakes, a breakfast BBQ attended 
by All Black and pilot Richie McCaw, and Board director 
Terry Murdoch, was held. Richie acknowledged Airways 
for keeping the skies open throughout the quakes. At 
12.51pm, exactly one year after the quake, staff assembled 
at the flagpoles to remember those who had perished, 
including our own Christchurch Tower controller Jill Murphy 
who was in the CBD at the time of the earthquake.
 

listening tO Our peOple

The annual anonymous JRA people survey, run in February 
2012, saw the best response rate ever of 87%, up from 
83% last year. 

The survey monitors progress towards being more 
customer focussed, innovative, performance driven and 
flexible - and of being in the top 25% of the best places 
to work by 2016 in terms of engagement. A culture strong 
in these elements is the key requirement to support the 
strategic goals of Airways.

Results were produced for each team to enable them to 
produce an action plan on what they are going to do to 
improve the culture at a local level in those four areas.

Results overall showed a small and statistically insignificant 
decline (1%) in each of the sections of the survey.  
Given the increased response rate in 2012, and the large 
increase in 2011 over 2010, it was a positive result.

Photograph by rnZAF photographer

Allanah Parker was one of three Ohakea Tower air traffic 
controllers on position in the Airways mobile control tower  
at Alexandra Airfield during a Royal New Zealand Air Force 
training exercise in central Otago.

Airways attended RNZAF 40 Squadron’s Exercise Skytrain  
for the first time in 2012, with the Ohakea ATCs deployed in 
central Otago for three weeks as the squadron practised low  
level tactical flying and load dropping. The exercise involved  
180 RNZAF operational and support personnel, who camped  
out at Alexandra Airfield during the exercise.

sAfe And reliAble grOw the businessmOtivAted And  
prepAred wOrkfOrce

cOmmerciAlly  
successful

helping custOmers  
tO succeed
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peOple plAns

Service managers developed and presented their People 
Plans for the 2012-2013 year to the Executive in May.  
The plans are Airways response to the feedback in the 
people survey to drive an improvement in culture. 

heAlth And sAfety

The ACC Workplace Safety Management Practices 
programme remained at tertiary (highest) level from  
the 2012 audit leading to a sizeable decrease in  
Airways ACC levies. The programme rewards medium  
and large employers who build safer workplaces. 

We were also pleased to achieve a 50% reduction in our 
Loss Time Frequency Rate to 0.64. No incidents of serious 
harm were reported in the period covered by this report.

tenure

Airways continues to successfully retain its staff with 30% 
of employees staying with Airways for more than 21 years.

length of service  no. of employees % 

Under 2 years 113 15%

2-5 years 138 18%

6-10 years 124 16%

11-20 years 158 21%

21+ years 226 30%

Total 759 100%
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service And pricing frAmewOrk

In our largest ever public consultation, 2011-2012 saw 
the review of Airways service and pricing frameworks. 
There were two rounds of formal consultation, six public 
customer forums, 4,200 customer letters and numerous 
association updates. Feedback gathered helped shape the 
design of the frameworks, helping to ensure the service 
provided met our customers’ needs at a price which 
reflects the value they receive. 

Some changes were made to the pricing framework after 
submissions were considered. These included staggering 
the removal of GA contract discounts, delaying the 
introduction of some aspects of the Controlled VFR transit 
fee and increasing the size of the neutral zone of the 
volume risk sharing mechanism.

Airways has committed to the current pricing arrangement 
until June 2013. The service and pricing framework 
review is about defining Airways domestic and oceanic 
air navigation services with our customers, and providing 
clear transparency around how these services are funded. 
The revised frameworks will ensure Airways will continue 
to supply high quality, innovative and cost-effective 
services at a time of significant technological change and 
economically challenging conditions. 

prOfitAbility

Airways achieved a net operating profit after tax of  
$9.3 million compared with $4.7 million the previous  
year. The domestic business unit performed in line with 
the planned result with revenue rising by about 6% 
to $140.5 million. However, revenue from the growth 
business unit exceeded the expectations set at the  
start of the financial year increasing by about 18% to 
$23.8 million. This was due largely to higher  
profitability in the training business unit. The training 
business result also included the first international sale 
and implementation of the Airways Total Control  
training simulator.

Airways uses Economic Value Added (EVA) Accounting to 
measure the economic performance of the parent company. 
The Airways parent reported a $0.9 million EVA profit for 
the 2012 year which compares to the parent GAAP profit 
of $5.1 million. Under EVA accounting, interest costs are 
replaced by a capital charge on operating capital employed.

COMMerCiALLy 
sUCCessFUL

sAfe And reliAble grOw the businessmOtivAted And  
prepAred wOrkfOrce

cOmmerciAlly  
successful

helping custOmers  
tO succeed

grOup nOpAt (nZd) 2011-2012 2010-2011

Domestic $5.1m $4.9m

Growth $4.2m $(0.2)m

total $9.3m $4.7m

grOup revenue (nZd) 2011-2012 2010-2011

Domestic $140.5m $132.5m

Growth $23.8m $20.1m

total $164.3m $152.6m
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bAnJO – briefing And nOtAm  
JOint OperAtiOns 

BANJO is a collaboration between Airways New Zealand 
and Airservices Australia to replace their aeronautical 
information management (AIM) systems with a single 
operating solution.

Airways and Airservices have worked together in recent 
years to develop the concept of a joint AIM system 
which will offer a pathway to a future digital information 
management environment to meet the needs of 
sophisticated aircraft, airlines and the ANSPs.

While the collaboration has pulled together a team of 
experts from both countries, Airways will oversee the 
installation and commissioning of the initial system in  
New Zealand as a lifecycle replacement for an ageing 
system. Subsequent development and migration across 
the Tasman Sea will facilitate the expansion of the system 
to Australia.

Photograph by rnZAF photographers

Stars shoot through the night sky of RNZAF’s Whenuapai air 
base in this image composed of 120 photographs blended 
together. A wide angled camera was set on a timer to take  
15-second exposures every 30 seconds. The central point 
around which the stars are circling is the celestial South Pole.

grOup shArehOlder vAlue

$250

$200

$150

$100

$50

$0
2009 2011 2016 target2010 2013 target2012

va
lu

at
io

n 
($

m
)

year end

AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011-12  |  29



gAcA Atc trAining

In early 2010, more than 2000 young Saudi Arabian men 
applied to be part of an inaugural ATC training programme. 
One arrived on his camel, and became one of 28 students 
selected with the Airways Sure Select recruitment and 
selection tool to travel to New Zealand to commence 
English language training for one year followed by a year  
of ATC training.

Within weeks of the group beginning their English language 
training in Christchurch the group experienced the first  
of a series of significant earthquakes – starting with the  
7.1 magnitude quake in the early hours of the morning  
of 4 September 2010 and ending with a devastating  
6.3 quake in central Christchurch on 22 February 2011. 

The students returned to Saudi Arabia while GACA, the 
Saudi Cultural Mission, Kaplan International College, 
Massey University and Airways worked together to relocate 
the programme to Auckland and Palmerston North. 

After a short break the programme continued at the Kaplan 
campus in Auckland and all achieved proficiency in English 
to begin ATC training in July 2011. ATC training started at 
the newly established Airways Palmerston North Campus 
– a year-long programme of aviation theory, aerodrome 
control, approach control and radar control.

Airways designed a purpose built LCD simulator and 
developed remote piloting capabilities and a radar 
simulator to support the training. The Total Control 
simulator was acknowledged as a highly effective training 
tool from the overseas instructors who have experience on 
a range of simulators.

Twenty-six students graduated at the end of June 2012 and 
returned to Saudi Arabia to commence on-the-job training.

A second group of students started the same programme 
during the last year also – beginning the English language 
component in December 2011. They will commence ATC 
training in November 2012.

sOuth AfricA hAs tOtAl cOntrOl 

In a first for Airways, a 360 degree simulator Total Control, 
developed in partnership with Animation Research Ltd,  
was sold to Air Transport Navigation Services in South 
Africa. An Airways team travelled to South Africa to set up 
and install the Total Control software, creating a world-class 
simulation environment.

As part of the sale, Airways and Animation Research Ltd, 
Dunedin, developed Republic airport, a training environment 
based on Johannesburg Airport. We developed new 
features, and trained software engineers, instructors  
and SIM pilots to prepare training exercises, test, maintain 
and run the simulator.

This success has generated interest from other organisations 
attracted to the simulator’s ease of use and its effectiveness 
as a training tool. Total Control has been successfully 
implemented and signed-off by CAA in South Africa to 
support ATC training.

In late June a Memorandum of Understanding was  
signed with ATNS for further commercial relationships 
related to the Airways Flight Yield billing system, training 
and consultancy.

GrOw The 
BUsiness

sAfe And reliAble grOw the businessmOtivAted And  
prepAred wOrkfOrce

cOmmerciAlly  
successful

helping custOmers  
tO succeed

Total Control training simulator.
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Twenty-six students from GACA, Saudi Arabia’s civil aviation authority, 
graduated from ATC training with Airways in June 2012.
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fOcus On OmAn 

Airways commenced the Oman project in 2007, as a 
sub-consultant to COWI-Larsen Joint Venture to provide 
ATC consultancy services for the development of Muscat 
and Salalah airports. This has been extended to four other 
airports. The design phase is now substantially completed 
with contracts awarded to most equipment suppliers.  
We are assisting in the contract management and 
engineering supervision of the equipment suppliers 
through to commissioning of the equipment, and have 
a number of operational and technical people based at 
Muscat to support this programme.

tiAnJin university student 
exchAnge prOgrAmme 

The inaugural group of five students from Tianjin University 
arrived in New Zealand in February 2012. They undertook 
a programme of aviation english, aviation theory and 
aerodrome control with Airways followed by two aviation 
courses at Massey University. All study completed in New 
Zealand will be credited against the students’ aviation 
degree from Tianjin University.

There are opportunities to expand the programme in 
future with 500 ATC students in each year-group at  
Tianjin University.

sAfe And reliAble grOw the businessmOtivAted And  
prepAred wOrkfOrce

cOmmerciAlly  
successful

helping custOmers  
tO succeed
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Photograph by Mark Adeane 
Airways Charting Specialist

Keen photographer Mark Adeane had heard about the 
miniaturisation photography technique and wanted to try it 
from an aircraft in flight. “One day en route from Wellington 
to Dunedin, I was lucky enough to get this great vista of 
Christchurch Airport,” Mark says.

there Are OppOrtunities tO 
expAnd the prOgrAmme in 
future with 500 Atc students 
in eAch yeAr-grOup At  
tiAnJin university.
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AirwAys in The 
COMMUniTy

Airways has a sponsorship portfolio based on supporting 
our commercial relationships within the aviation industry 
and meeting our corporate social responsibilities by 
contributing to safety, employee welfare and community-
based initiatives.

fOr the AviAtiOn cOmmunity

Diamond Sponsor of the 2012 Aviation Industry 
Association (AIA) conference
New Zealand Airports’ Conference
Walsh Memorial Scout Flying School 
Women in Aviation Rally
Canterbury Gliding Club
Massey School of Aviation ball 
Angel Flight
Association of South Pacific Airlines 
RNZAF Golf tournament
CAA seminar sponsorship

  
fOr the cOmmunity

Marist Hockey Club
ANZCO Foods Earthquake Trust 
Hornby Youth Group

fOr AirwAys

The Airways Paddlateers – Christchurch dragon boat team
Christchurch basketball team
Various Rugby World Cup local events for staff
Airways Super Eagles
The Airways Hawkes – Christchurch touch rugby team
ATC course 19 30-year reunion
Airways Tug of War Team
Sefton A&P Show

Natasha Hansen is New Zealand track cycling’s premier 
woman sprinter. She’s a rising star on the international 
cycling circuit, recently competing at the 2012 Olympic 
Games in London. Between national and international 
competitions, Natasha works and trains in Invercargill. 
Airways is pleased to support Natasha in her bid to be  
the world number one women’s sprint cyclist.

Natasha Hansen - Air Traffic Controller, Invercargill Tower. 
Sprint cyclist, top ten in the world
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Photo credit: Wayne Cook – COBi Digital.  
The Airways Paddlateers – Christchurch dragon boat team.
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AirwAys BOArD OF DireCTOrs

susan paterson 
Chairperson, BPharm, 
MBA

Anthony briscoe  
BA, Diploma in International 
Marketing (Hons)

david park 
Deputy Chair, BE (Hons),  
MSc, MBA

Susan has been an 
independent Director for 
the past 15 years, and was 
appointed to the Airways 
Board in May 2006 and 
became Chair in 2011. 
Having trained and 
practiced as a pharmacist, 
Susan completed an MBA 
at London Business School. 
Susan then worked in 
management roles in New 
Zealand and the UK. She 
worked overseas for 10 
years including strategy 
consulting for Boston-based 
Index Group throughout 
Europe and USA.

Susan is also Chair of Theta 
Systems Ltd and a director 
of the Electricity Authority, 
Goodman NZ, Abano 
Healthcare Ltd, Housing 
NZ Ltd, and Les Mills NZ 
Ltd. Previous directorships 
include Ports of Auckland 
Ltd, Transpower NZ Ltd, 
Auckland Regional Holdings, 
and Tower Health and Life.

Susan has a keen interest 
in sport, education and 
the environment, she is 
Chairman of the NZ  
Eco-Labelling Trust and 
Auckland Hockey, a past 
Board Member of St. 
Cuthbert’s College and 
EECA, and a Fellow of the 
Institute of Directors. 

David was appointed 
to the Airways Board in 
January 2010. A qualified 
aeronautical engineer, 
he has held senior flight 
operations management 
position in two airlines 
and now provides aviation 
consulting advice to airports, 
airlines, and international 
aviation businesses. He 
is a member of the Royal 
Aeronautical Society, the 
Guild of Airline Pilots and 
Air Navigators and is a UK 
Chartered Engineer.

Anthony was appointed to  
the Airways Board in 
November 2006. Until July 
2011 Anthony was General 
Manager of Telecom New 
Zealand International, 
which operates Telecom’s 
international voice, data and 
internet networks. 
He is an IOD accredited 
director and executive  
director of Blacksock 
Consulting Limited, a 
director on the Boards 
of Kordia Group Ltd and 
Wellington Cable Car 
Company Ltd and a Trustee 
of the National Science and 
Technology Roadshow Trust. 
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terry murdoch graeme reeves 
BA LLB

susan putt 
BCom CA

susan huria 
Diploma in Journalism,  
Diploma in Marketing

Susan is a full time director 
and is currently deputy chair 
of AgResearch, director 
of Watercare Services, 
Northland Port Corporation, 
Veterinary Enterprises 
Group and a trustee of First 
Foundation. She is a Fellow 
of the Public Relations 
Institute of New Zealand 
and an accredited member 
of the New Zealand 
Institute of Directors. Her 
background is in marketing 
and communications and 
she has spent the last 
15 years working with 
Maori entities through her 
company Huria Anders. 

Terry was appointed to the 
Airways Board in 2009. 
He is the Chief Executive 
and director of Pacific Jets 
Ltd. He has more than 
25 years experience in 
general aviation and has 
represented the industry  
on a number of committees 
and advisory groups.  
He is a commercial pilot 
holding Flight Examiner  
and Instructor rating.  
He is also a member of  
the New Zealand Institute 
of Directors.

Susan was appointed to the 
Airways Board in 2008. She 
has financial and strategic 
management experience 
and is a qualified Chartered 
Accountant. Susan has 
held senior management 
positions such as Chief 
Financial Officer and 
Strategy Manager in 
various companies. She 
is a member of the 
New Zealand Institute of 
Chartered Accountants  
and an accredited member 
of the New Zealand  
Institute of Directors. 

Graeme was appointed 
to the Airways Board in 
April 2007. He is a lawyer 
specialising in commercial 
law, asset protection and 
employment law.  
He is the Chief Gambling 
Commissioner, and a 
member of the  
New Zealand Law Society. 
Graeme has corporate 
governance experience  
in the public and  
private sectors.
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AirwAys eXeCUTiVe TeAM

ed sims  
Chief Executive Officer

monica davis 
Group Manager 
Corporate Services

lew Jenkins 
Group Manager  
Air Navigation Services 
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Andrew griffith
Group Manager 
Technical and Systems

sharon cooke  
General Manager 
Training

mark loveard 
Chief Financial Officer
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sTrATeGiC – 
LOOKinG FOrwArD
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In 2012-13 our priorities include:

Complete implementation of new organisational 
design: This initiative will build the skills, capabilities and 
structure required for the successful System Operator, 
Shared Services and Ventures businesses.

Agree 2013-16 pricing round: Revise pricing structure 
to be service oriented and align with the System Operator’s 
financial model. Ensure performance enhancement 
initiatives earn funding by customers. 

refresh the safety management programme:  
This initiative will deliver a revised strategic safety plan 
that covers all of Airways operations and sets direction for 
achieving our safety targets. 

implement strict investment gating and 
management process: This initiative is essential to focus 
limited resources and to ensure that portfolio performance 
exceeds market return.

implement new business ideation process:  
This initiative will reinvigorate the ideas generation and 
validation process, focusing on new business generation. 
It includes establishing a company-wide research and 
development programme, building strong relationships 
with the System Operator and building focussed 
relationships with external partners who can originate  
and contribute to ideas. 

research and select opportunities for game 
changing service: Nurture relationships with prospective 
global partners and identify specific opportunities to create 
a game changing service of global significance. 

Photograph by stewart Cameron 
Christchurch Tower Air Traffic Controller

In early June 2012 snow covered much of the country, and 
Christchurch received a good dumping. Once air traffic resumed 
after the snowfall, air traffic controllers in Christchurch Tower got 
a birds’ eye view of the stunning vista. 

Stewart Cameron was on shift to capture the sunset over a 
blanket of white. “It was quite striking to see, with shallow fog 
forming on the airport as the sun went down. I think we had the 
best view in the city that day,” Stewart says.
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Financial Statements

FinAnCiAL 
PerFOrMAnCe

Airways financial performance for 2011-12 year is detailed in the following pages. 

The Airways Group reported a $9.3 million net operating profit 
after tax (NOPAT) for the 2011-12 year which compares to 
$4.7 million for the previous financial year. This represents a 
solid financial performance, with the domestic business unit 
performing in line with the planned result and the growth 
business unit exceeding the expectations set at the start of  
the financial year.

Domestic revenues

Revenues were 6.0% higher than the previous year due to higher 

traffic volumes and a 3.5% price increase for aerodrome services, 

approach services and en-route oceanic charges which came into 

effect on 1 July 2011. Higher traffic volumes were driven mainly from 

low-cost Asian airlines and increased flight volumes across both the 

domestic and international markets. 

Domestic expenses

Expenses were up on the previous year due to higher labour costs 

and inflationary increases on operating expenditure. Increased  

labour costs were driven by collective wage increases and one-off 

costs associated with restructuring, retiring leave and holiday  

pay adjustments. 

Growth business

The growth business had a successful year which was driven by 

higher profitability in the training business unit. During the year the 

first group of Saudi Arabian air traffic control students completed 

their two-year training course here in New Zealand with a second 

group starting their course. The training business result also included 

the first international sale and implementation of the Airways Total 

Control training simulator.

The consulting and Flight Yield business units continued to face a 

challenging international business environment which resulted in sales 

and profitability lower than planned. 

Outlook

Airways has implemented a new growth strategy and business 

model for the 2012-13 year which will enable the company to 

thrive and grow over the next 10 years. This new business model 

comprises two customer and profit focussed businesses – System 

Operator and Ventures – which will be supported by a best practice 

Shared Services function. The 2012-13 financial result will be 

impacted by one-off transformation costs which will reduce profits 

from the 2011-12 levels. The Airways Group of companies is 

forecasting NOPAT of $5.4m for the 2012-13 year with a majority  

of these profits being retained in the business to partially fund  

future growth.

GROUP NOPAT (NZD) 2011-2012 2010-2011

Domestic  $5.1m  $4.9m

Growth  $4.2m  $(0.2)m

Total  $9.3m  $4.7m

GROUP REVENUE (NZD) 2011-2012 2010-2011

Domestic  $140.5m  $132.5m

Growth  $ 23.8m  $ 20.1m 

Total  $164.3m  $152.6m 
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PerFOrMAnCe 
TArGeTs AnD  
MeAsUres
2011-12 Objectives 

1. SAFE AND RElIABlE

OBJECTIVES STATUS

Update the Strategic Safety plan and progress initiatives in accordance with the plan. ACHIEVED

Optimise the preventative maintenance programme to unlock the benefits arising from the  
comprehensive review of maintenance requirements performed over the past 18 months. ACHIEVED

Review design criteria for airfield lighting and implement changes critical to attaining availability  
agreed under our shortly to be completed letter of agreement with the airports.

DEFERRED – 
Letter of agreement with  
the airports deferred.

2. HElPING CUSTOmERS TO SUCCEED

OBJECTIVES STATUS

Design “Optimised Gate to Gate domestic flight” services for Jet Operations. ACHIEVED

Design and implement a work programme for the transition to Performance Based Services  
to allow more efficient use of airspace by 2015. ACHIEVED

Work with stakeholders (including CAA) to design options that meet the regulatory, operational  
and technical requirements for Automatic Dependent Surveillance - Broadcast (ADS-B) operations. PROGRESSING TO PlAN

Review Vision 2015 initiatives and targets, and issue 2020 Vision white paper.
DEFERRED –  
Until 2012-13 to integrate with Business 
Transformation project outcomes.

In consultation with customers develop service specifications, service levels and service reporting framework. ACHIEVED

3. mOTIVATED AND PREPARED WORkFORCE

OBJECTIVES STATUS

Cascade Group Strategy through an evaluated Performance Management framework across all management levels. ACHIEVED

Negotiate the expiring collective agreements within agreed parameters. ACHIEVED
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4. GROW THE BUSINESS

OBJECTIVES STATUS

Review the five-year strategic plans developed by the Consulting, Flight Yield and Training business  
units to determine acceptable earning levels.

Initial review complete. Final review  
being completed in early 2012-13 as  
part of Business Transformation project.

For Consulting - Develop High Value Services/Value-Based Pricing model by determining which parts of our  
portfolio are of the highest value to the market, and where Airways should build the best portfolio for the future.

DEFERRED –  
Until 2012-13 to integrate with Business 
Transformation project outcomes.

For Training - Establish an e-learning framework using the benchmarking, academic practices and  
internal reviews to develop a leading educational framework for aviation training. ACHIEVED

For Flight Yield - Reduce operational cost base until the sales pipeline begins to bear fruit. ACHIEVED

5. BEING COmmERCIAlly SUCCESSFUl

OBJECTIVES STATUS

Implement a new commercial model framework by seeking a long term investment and pricing path which secures 
the necessary funding to deliver the technology transition programme in a holistic and optimal manner, including 
completing the Letter of Agreement with Airports.

ACHIEVED – 
Letter of agreement with  
the airports deferred.

Implement a whole of life cycle investment management approach – starting with the initial business case, through 
monthly reporting and concluding with the final benefit realisation review. This initiative will also deliver a suite of 
enhancements to improve the performance of Airways core and growth investments.

ACHIEVED

6. CORPORATE SOCIAl RESPONSIBIlITy (CSR)

OBJECTIVES STATUS

Airways Corporate and Social Responsibility objectives are to provide a safe air navigation  
service within New Zealand's airspace. ACHIEVED
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GAAP mEASURE SCI ACTUAl VARIANCE

Group NOPAT $6.6m $9.3m $2.7m

Return on average equity 13% 20% 7%

Shareholder’s Equity $47.9m $46.9m ($1.0m)

Dividends $5.0m $5.0m -

FinAnCiAL TArGeTs 
AnD MeAsUres

The ACTUAL resULTs AGAinsT The sTATeMenT OF COrPOrATe inTenT (sCi) TArGeTs Are:
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GROUP PARENT

FOR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011 NOTES

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

REVENUE 

Airways charges 141,083 133,150 137,703 129,927

Other income 23,079 19,340 29,577 29,554 4

Interest income 93 134 93 134

164,255 152,624 167,373 159,615

EXPENSE	

Depreciation 13,491 13,056 11,949 11,743 12

Amortisation 1,345 980 672 520 13

Asset impairment - 875 - 359 12 and 13

Employee remuneration 96,985 92,197 96,985 92,197 5

Employee related costs 3,886 2,689 3,886 2,689

Other operating costs 28,375 28,925 38,316 36,919 6

Rental expense on operating leases 4,963 4,693 6,176 5,906

Interest expense 2,261 1,825 2,249 1,812

Share of loss from Joint Venture - 189 - - 28

151,306 145,429 160,233 152,145

NET SURPlUS BEFORE TAXATION 12,949 7,195 7,140 7,470

Taxation expense (3,642) (2,368) (2,012) (2,392) 8

Effect of change to tax depreciation on buildings - (120) - (120) 8

TOTAl TAXATION EXPENSE (3,642) (2,488) (2,012) (2,512)

NET SURPlUS AFTER TAXATION  
ATTRIBUTABlE TO EQUITy SHAREHOlDERS

9,307 4,707 5,128 4,958

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Movement on foreign exchange cash flow hedge reserve (1,059) 896 (1,059) 896

Movement on interest rate derivative cash flow hedge reserve (1,476) (776) (1,476) (776)

Deferred tax for current year on other comprehensive income 710 (40) 710 (40) 8

TOTAl OTHER COmPREHENSIVE INCOmE (1,825) 80 (1,825) 80

TOTAl COmPREHENSIVE INCOmE FOR THE yEAR 7,482 4,787 3,303 5,038

ATTRIBUTABLE TO: 

Equity shareholders 7,482 4,787 3,303 5,038

STATEmENTS OF COmPREHENSIVE INCOmE  NZ IFRS

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 56 to 93.

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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STATEmENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITy NZ IFRS

GROUP 
ATTRIBUTABlE TO EQUITy SHAREHOlDERS

CONTRIBUTED 
EQUITy

HEDGE  
RESERVE

RETAINED 
PROFITS TOTAl NOTES

BAlANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 41,100 (214) 4,702 45,588

COmPREHENSIVE INCOmE 

Surplus after taxation - - 4,707 4,707

OTHER COmPREHENSIVE INCOmE 

RECLASSIFICATION OF EFFECTIVE PORTION  
OF	FOREIGN	EXCHANGE	HEDGES	TO:	

Property, plant and equipment - (13) - (13)

Net surplus before taxation - 985 - 985

MOVEMENT IN VALUE OF:

New foreign exchange hedges - 28 - 28

Foreign exchange hedges held throughout the year - (104) - (104)

New interest rate hedges - 90 - 90

Interest rate hedges held throughout the year - (866) - (866)

Deferred tax on components of other comprehensive income - (40) - (40) 19

TOTAl OTHER COmPREHENSIVE INCOmE - 80 - 80

TOTAl COmPREHENSIVE INCOmE - 80 4,707 4,787

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS 

Dividends paid (14.6 cents per share) - - (6,000) (6,000)

TOTAl TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS - - (6,000) (6,000)

BAlANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 41,100 (134) 3,409 44,375

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 56 to 93.

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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GROUP 
ATTRIBUTABlE TO EQUITy SHAREHOlDERS

CONTRIBUTED 
EQUITy

HEDGE  
RESERVE

RETAINED 
PROFITS TOTAl NOTES

BAlANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 41,100 (134) 3,409 44,375

COmPREHENSIVE INCOmE 

Surplus after taxation - - 9,307 9,307

OTHER COmPREHENSIVE INCOmE 

RECLASSIFICATION OF EFFECTIVE PORTION  
OF	FOREIGN	EXCHANGE	HEDGES	TO:	

Property, plant and equipment - (51) - (51)

Net surplus before taxation - (1,332) - (1,332)

MOVEMENT IN VALUE OF:

New foreign exchange hedges - 132 - 132

Foreign exchange hedges held throughout the year - (11) - (11)

New interest rate hedges - 71 - 71

Interest rate hedges held throughout the year - (1,344) - (1,344)

Deferred tax on components of other comprehensive income - 710 - 710 19

TOTAl OTHER COmPREHENSIVE INCOmE - (1,825) - (1,825)

TOTAl COmPREHENSIVE INCOmE - (1,825) 9,307 7,482

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS 

Dividends paid (12.2 cents per share) - - (5,000) (5,000)

TOTAl TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS - - (5,000) (5,000)

BAlANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 41,100 (1,959) 7,716 46,857

STATEmENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITy (CONT.)  NZ IFRS

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 56 to 93.
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STATEmENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITy (CONT.)  NZ IFRS

PARENT 
ATTRIBUTABlE TO EQUITy SHAREHOlDERS

CONTRIBUTED 
EQUITy

HEDGE  
RESERVE

RETAINED 
PROFITS TOTAl NOTES

BAlANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 41,100 (214) 1,452 42,338

COmPREHENSIVE INCOmE

Surplus after taxation - - 4,958 4,958

OTHER COmPREHENSIVE INCOmE 

RECLASSIFICATION OF EFFECTIVE PORTION  
OF	FOREIGN	EXCHANGE	HEDGES	TO:

Property, plant and equipment - (13) - (13)

Net surplus before taxation - 985 - 985

MOVEMENT IN VALUE OF:

New foreign exchange hedges - 28 - 28

Foreign exchange hedges held throughout the year - (104) - (104)

New interest rate hedges - 90 - 90

Interest rate hedges held throughout the year - (866) - (866)

Deferred tax on components of other comprehensive income - (40) - (40) 19

TOTAl OTHER COmPREHENSIVE INCOmE - 80 - 80

TOTAl COmPREHENSIVE INCOmE - 80 4,958 5,038

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS

Dividends paid (14.6 cents per share) - - (6,000) (6,000)

TOTAl TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS - - (6,000) (6,000)

BAlANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 41,100 (134) 410 41,376

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 56 to 93.
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PARENT 
ATTRIBUTABlE TO EQUITy SHAREHOlDERS

CONTRIBUTED 
EQUITy

HEDGE  
RESERVE

RETAINED 
PROFITS TOTAl NOTES 

BAlANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 41,100 (134) 410 41,376

COmPREHENSIVE INCOmE

Surplus after taxation - - 5,128 5,128

OTHER COmPREHENSIVE INCOmE 

RECLASSIFICATION OF EFFECTIVE PORTION  
OF	FOREIGN	EXCHANGE	HEDGES	TO:

Property, plant and equipment - (51) - (51)

Net surplus before taxation - (1,332) - (1,332)

MOVEMENT IN VALUE OF:

New foreign exchange hedges - 132 - 132

Foreign exchange hedges held throughout the year - (11) - (11)

New interest rate hedges - 71 - 71

Interest rate hedges held throughout the year - (1,344) - (1,344)

Deferred tax on components of other comprehensive income - 710 - 710 19

TOTAl OTHER COmPREHENSIVE INCOmE - (1,825) - (1,825)

TOTAl COmPREHENSIVE INCOmE - (1,825) 5,128 3,303

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS

Dividends paid (12.2 cents per share) - - (5,000) (5,000)

TOTAl TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS - - (5,000) (5,000)

BAlANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 41,100 (1,959) 538 39,679

STATEmENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITy (CONT.)  NZ IFRS

Share Capital – The Parent has capital of $41.1 million (2011: $41.1 million) issued ordinary shares which confer on the holders the right  

to vote at any general meeting of Shareholders. This consists of 41,100,000 authorised ordinary shares.

The Cash Flow Hedge Reserve records the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that is determined  

to be an effective hedge. 

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 56 to 93.
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BAlANCE SHEETS  NZ IFRS

GROUP PARENT

NOTESAS AT 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,792 7,854 5,792 7,853 9

Trade and other receivables 20,884 15,630 19,002 18,813 11

Prepayments 1,117 988 1,117 988

Derivative financial instruments 523 1,625 523 1,625 10

TOTAl CURRENT ASSETS 28,316 26,097 26,434 29,279

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Property, plant and equipment 109,234 105,730 101,620 98,387 12

Intangibles 4,040 4,156 1,394 1,605 13

Investments - - 100 100 28

Parts inventory 1,349 1,227 1,253 1,163

Other non-current assets 84 84 84 84

Derivative financial instruments 23 123 23 123 10

TOTAl NON-CURRENT ASSETS 114,730 111,320 104,474 101,462

TOTAl ASSETS 143,046 137,417 130,908 130,741

lIABIlITIES 

CURRENT lIABIlITIES 

Trade and other payables 8,299 7,038 6,234 5,144 14

Employee entitlements 20,488 17,358 20,488 17,358 15

Provisions 1,035 - 1,035 - 16

Current tax liability 1,810 662 12 215 18

Deferred income 18,840 1,228 18,840 1,228 24 and 29

Derivative financial instruments 455 420 455 420 10

TOTAl CURRENT lIABIlITIES 50,927 26,706 47,064 24,365

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 56 to 93.
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GROUP PARENT

NOTESAS AT 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

NON-CURRENT lIABIlITIES 

Deferred taxation 7,876 9,314 6,779 7,978 19

Deferred income - 18,841 - 18,841 24 and 29

Employee entitlements 7,906 6,796 7,906 6,796 15

Derivative financial instruments 2,480 1,385 2,480 1,385 10

Loan facility – unsecured 27,000 30,000 27,000 30,000 17

TOTAl NON-CURRENT lIABIlITIES 45,262 66,336 44,165 65,000

TOTAl lIABIlITIES 96,189 93,042 91,229 89,365

NET ASSETS 46,857 44,375 39,679 41,376

EQUITy 

Share capital 41,100 41,100 41,100 41,100

Reserves (1,959) (134) (1,959) (134)

Retained earnings 7,716 3,409 538 410

TOTAl EQUITy 46,857 44,375 39,679 41,376

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

BAlANCE SHEETS (CONT.)  NZ IFRS

The Board of Directors of Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited authorised these Financial Statements for issue on 30 August 2012. 

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 56 to 93.

SUSAN PATERSON 

Chairperson

30 August 2012

SUSAN PUTT  

Director 

30 August 2012
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STATEmENTS OF CASH FlOWS  NZ IFRS

GROUP PARENT

NOTESFOR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE  2012 2011 2012 2011

CASH FlOWS FROm OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH WAS PROVIDED FROm: 

Receipts from customers 159,757 154,967 155,066 158,738

Interest received 84 133 84 133

CASH WAS APPlIED TO: 

Payments to suppliers (35,520) (29,219) (33,103) (38,424)

Payments to employees (95,567) (96,346) (95,567) (93,897)

Interest paid (2,233) (1,661) (2,222) (1,649)

Goods and services tax 581 (70) 219 (82)

Income tax (paid)/received (3,225) (41) (3,168) 297

NET CASH FlOWS FROm OPERATING ACTIVITIES 23,877 27,763 21,309 25,116 30

CASH FlOWS FROm INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

CASH WAS PROVIDED FROm: 

Sale of property, plant and equipment 22 55 4 30

CASH WAS APPlIED TO: 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (17,961) (13,389) (15,374) (10,718)

NET CASH FlOWS FROm INVESTING ACTIVITIES (17,939) (13,334) (15,370) (10,688)

CASH FlOWS FROm FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

CASH WAS PROVIDED FROm: 

Drawdown of loan facility - - - -

CASH WAS APPlIED TO: 

Repayment of loan facility (3,000) (6,000) (3,000) (6,000)

Payment of dividends (5,000) (6,000) (5,000) (6,000)

NET CASH FlOWS FROm FINANCING ACTIVITIES (8,000) (12,000) (8,000) (12,000)

NET INCREASE IN CASH HElD (2,062) 2,429 (2,061) 2,428

Cash at the beginning of the year 7,854 5,425 7,853 5,425

CASH AT THE END OF THE yEAR 5,792 7,854 5,792 7,853

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 56 to 93.
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NOTE 1 REPORTING ENTITy

Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand. The address of its 

registered office is Level 26, Majestic Centre, 100 Willis St, Wellington, New Zealand. Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited is a State-

Owned Enterprise established under the State-Owned Enterprise Act 1986 with shares held in equal numbers by the Minister for State-Owned 

Enterprises and the Minister of Finance, on behalf of the Crown.

These Group consolidated Financial Statements are for Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Airways 

International Limited (AIL), Airways Training Limited (ATL) and Airways Equipment Limited (AEL). All companies are registered under the 

Companies Act 1993. 

Airways refers to the “Group”: Airways Corporation of New Zealand, as well as its wholly-owned subsidiaries. The term “Parent” refers to Airways 

Corporation of New Zealand Limited as a separate legal entity.

Airways is designated as a profit-oriented entity for financial reporting purposes.

Airways principal business is air navigation services within New Zealand.

In addition to this, Airways is involved in international and domestic growth activities: 

i.  maintenance of systems 

ii.  consultancy 

iii.  training 

iv.  aviation related publications, and 

v.  software development, sales and implementation.

NOTE 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

(A) STATEmENT OF COmPlIANCE

These Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in New Zealand. They comply  

with the New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS) and other applicable Financial Reporting Standards,  

as appropriate for profit-oriented entities. The Financial Statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

The Financial Statements have also been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Reporting Act 1993, Companies Act 

1993 and the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986.

These Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 August 2012.

(B) BASIS OF mEASUREmENT

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Financial Statements are consistent with those followed in the preparation  

of the Financial Statements prepared for the reporting period ended 30 June 2011. 

The Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis as modified by the revaluation of derivative financial instruments.

(C) FUNCTIONAl AND PRESENTATION CURRENCy

Items included in the Financial Statements of each of Airways entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in 

which it operates (‘the functional currency’), which is New Zealand dollars. The consolidated Financial Statements are presented in New Zealand 

dollars, which is Airways presentation currency and all values unless otherwise stated are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAl STATEmENTS  NZ IFRS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAl STATEmENTS  NZ IFRS

NOTE 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT.)

(D) USE OF CRITICAl ACCOUNTING ESTImATES AND JUDGEmENTS

The preparation of Financial Statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 

accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenditure. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are evaluated on an ongoing basis based on historical experience and other factors, including 

expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised  

in the accounting period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty, and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the 

most significant effect on the amount recognised in the Financial Statements, are described in the following notes:

(i) CONTRACT REVENUE

Managers apply contract specific judgement in order to determine the amount of revenue to recognise to projects in progress.  

Managers use milestone and stage of completion information in order to calculate the amount of revenue to recognise. Refer to note 

3(C) for accounting policy.

(ii) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Airways uses an independent external party to provide specialised market valuations aligned to standard accounting practices. Refer to 

notes 3(K) and 21 for accounting policy and treatment.

(iii) IMPAIRMENT OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Airways tests annually whether intangible assets have suffered any impairment using the guidance under NZ IAS 36. Where indicators of 

impairment are identified, the carrying values of these assets are determined using estimates of future cash flows under the ‘free cash 

flow to the enterprise’ methodology and a suitable discount rate and terminal growth assumption in order to calculate the present value 

of those cash flows. Refer to notes 3(N) and 13 for accounting policy and treatment.

(iv) EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

Long service leave and retirement leave are both long term employee benefits. These are measured annually by an external actuary 

who uses data provided by Airways, the most current prescribed Treasury rates and demographic assumptions based on the experience 

of the Government Superannuation Fund. Refer to notes 3(R) and 15 for accounting policy and treatment.

(v)	DEFERRED	TAX

Management apply judgement to estimate provisions and fixed asset net book values, both of which impact the value of deferred tax 

assets and liabilities. This judgement is based off forecast expectations of the business. Refer to notes 3(D) and 19 for accounting policy 

and treatment.

(vi) DEPRECIATION

Depreciation rates used are based on the expected useful life of assets. As a starting point we use rates as advised by the “Brookers A-Z 

of depreciation rates handbook”. These rates are periodically reviewed by in-house experts in air traffic control systems and equipment, who 

have specific industry knowledge. The most recent review was completed in November 2010. Refer to note 3(M) for accounting policy.

(vii) IMPAIRMENT OF LAND

Airways uses an independent valuer to provide a current valuation for land that is no longer required and may subsequently be made 

available for sale. Refer to notes 3(M)(i) and 12 for accounting policy and treatment.

AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011-12  |  57



Financial Statements

NOTE 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT.)

(E) STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AmENDmENTS TO EXISTING STANDARDS THAT HAVE BEEN ADOPTED By AIRWAyS

During the current period, Airways adopted the following:

(i) The amended version of NZ IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures (Amended), issued in November 2010. The amendment  

requires additional disclosure in respect of risk exposures arising from transferred financial assets. This has had minimal impact to Airways.

(ii) NZ IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (amended), issued in November 2009. The amended standard simplifies the definition of related 

party and clarifies the intended meaning of the definition. The amendment has not had any impact on Airways financial statements.

(iii) FRS 44 New Zealand Additional Disclosures, issued in April 2011. The standard requires additional New Zealand-specific disclosures 

to those required under NZ IFRS. This has had minimal impact to Airways.

(F)  STANDARDS, AmENDmENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS TO EXISTING STANDARDS THAT ARE NOT yET EFFECTIVE AND 
HAVE NOT BEEN EARly ADOPTED By AIRWAyS

The following standards and amendments to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on  

or after 1 January 2012 or later periods, but Airways has not early adopted them: 

(i) NZ IFRS 9 (2010), ‘Financial instruments’, issued in December 2010 (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015, with 

early adoption allowed). NZ IFRS 9 (2010) supersedes the 2009 version of the same standard and replaces the multiple classification 

and measurement models in NZ IAS 39 with a single model that has only two classification categories: amortised cost and fair value. 

Classification under NZ IFRS 9 will be driven by an entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual 

characteristics of the financial assets. There will be no impact on Airways accounting for financial liabilities, as the new requirements only 

affect the accounting for financial liabilities that are designated as at fair value through profit or loss, of which Airways has none.  

It is not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s Financial Statements.

(ii) NZ IFRS 11, ‘Joint Arrangements’, issued in June 2011 (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 with early adoption 

allowed). This standard makes a distinction between joint ventures and joint operations and requires the accounting to reflect the 

contractual rights and obligations agreed by the parties. It is not expected to have a material impact on Airways Financial Statements.

(iii) NZ IFRS 13, ‘Fair Value Measurement’, issued in June 2011 (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 with early 

adoption allowed). This standard establishes a single, unified definition of fair value and sets out the required disclosure relating to fair 

value measurements. Given the limited extent of Airways fair value measurement and reporting, this standard is not expected to have  

a material impact on Airways Financial Statements. 

NOTE 3 SUmmARy OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POlICIES

(A) BASIS OF CONSOlIDATION

(i) SUBSIDIARIES

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which Airways has the power to govern the financial and operating 

policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the 

date on which control is transferred to Airways. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by Airways. The cost of an acquisition 

is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments used and liability incurred or assumed at the exchange rate, 

acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a 

business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. 

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of Airways share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.  

If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly on 

the statement of comprehensive income.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAl STATEmENTS  NZ IFRS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAl STATEmENTS  NZ IFRS

NOTE 3 SUmmARy OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POlICIES (CONT.)

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Airways companies are eliminated. Unrealised 

losses are also eliminated but considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries are 

consistent with the policies adopted by Airways and all subsidiaries share a 30 June balance date. The parent recognises its investment 

in subsidiaries at cost, less impairment.

(ii) JOINT VENTURES

Airways interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method of consolidation. Airways share of its joint 

venture post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, and its share of post-acquisition 

movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying value 

of the investment. When Airways share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests in the joint venture, including any 

unsecured receivables, Airways does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf  

of the joint venture.

(B) FOREIGN CURRENCy TRANSlATION

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 

Monetary assets and liabilities held in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate at balance date.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of 

monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, except when 

deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges.

(C) REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue comprises the fair value for the sale of goods and services, excluding Goods and Services Tax, rebates and discounts and after 

eliminating sales within Airways. Revenue is recognised as follows:

(i) SALES OF PRODUCTS 

Airways follows the principles of NZ IAS 18, ‘Revenue recognition’, in determining appropriate revenue policies. In principle, therefore, 

revenue associated with Sale of Products is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied: 

 - Airways has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the products; 

 -  Airways does not retain either continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership or  

effective control over the products sold;

 - The amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 

 - It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to Airways; and  

 - The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the sale can be measured reliably.

(ii) AIR SERVICE CHARGES AND OTHER SERVICES 

Revenue associated with the rendering of services is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied: 

 - The amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 

 - It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to Airways; 

 - The stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably; and  

 - The costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably. 

(iii) INTEREST INCOME 

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.

(D) CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOmE TAX

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date of the 

countries where Airways subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions  

taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation, and establishes provisions  

where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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NOTE 3 SUmmARy OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POlICIES (CONT.)

Deferred income tax is provided in full using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 

and their carrying amounts in the consolidated Financial Statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from  

initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction affects neither 

accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially 

enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income  

tax liability is settled. Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available  

against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the timing of the 

reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by Airways and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

(E) lEASES

Airways leases certain land, buildings, plant and equipment.

Operating lease payments, where the lessors effectively retain the risks and benefits of ownership of the leased items, are included in the 

statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the lease term.

(F) ImPAIRmENT OF NON-FINANCIAl ASSETS

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable  

amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped  

at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units).

(G) CASH AND CASH EQUIVAlENTS

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held on call with financial institutions, other short term, highly liquid investments  

with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 

risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

(H) TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABlE

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision for impairment.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision for 

doubtful receivables is established when there is objective evidence that Airways will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the 

original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is dependent on the age of the debt and specific debtor circumstances. For the 

Growth business debt which is greater than 90 days old but less than one year is discounted at the average cost of capital. Debt which is  

greater than one year old but less than 2 years old is discounted by 50% of the carrying value. Debt which is greater than 2 years old is 

discounted by 100% of the carrying value. The amount of the provision is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

(I) PARTS INVENTORy

Parts inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average cost basis. Net realisable  

value is the estimated selling price less applicable variable selling expenses.
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NOTE 3 SUmmARy OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POlICIES (CONT.)

(J) INVESTmENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAl ASSETS 

Airways classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and loans and receivables.  

The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its 

investments at the initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date.

(i) FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value through profit or loss at 

inception. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if so 

designated by management. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated hedges. Assets in this 

category are classified as current assets if they are either held for trading or are expected to be realised within 12 months of the balance 

sheet date. Airways has no financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss at balance date.

(ii) LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 

market. They arise when Airways provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of selling the receivable. 

They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date which  

are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included in ‘trade and other receivables’ and ‘cash and cash 

equivalents’ in the balance sheet.

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade date - the date on which Airways commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the 

statement of comprehensive income. Investments are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have 

expired or have been transferred and Airways has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. Loans and receivables 

are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

Airways assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is 

impaired. Refer to notes 3(H) and 11.

(k) DERIVATIVE FINANCIAl INSTRUmENTS

Airways uses Forward Exchange Contracts to hedge expenditure and revenue denominated in foreign currency. Airways also uses Interest Rate 

Swaps and Caps to hedge interest repayments on its term debt.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-valued to their fair value. 

The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on the nature of the relationship between the derivative and the item being 

hedged. Airways designates derivatives as hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges).

At the inception of the transaction, Airways documents the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items as well as its risk 

management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Airways also documents an assessment, both at hedge inception 

and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions have been and will continue to be highly effective in 

offsetting changes in cash flows of hedged items.
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NOTE 3 SUmmARy OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POlICIES (CONT.)

(i) CASH FLOW HEDGE 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in equity in the hedging 

reserve. Amounts accumulated in equity are transferred to the statement of comprehensive income when the hedged item affects profit 

and loss (for example, when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place). Offsetting this, when the forecast transaction that is hedged 

occurs, the gains or losses previously deferred in equity are also transferred to the statement of comprehensive income. For forecast 

items that are fully hedged and 100% effective, the net effect on the statement of comprehensive income is neutral (i.e. nil).

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the entity revokes designation of the hedge relationship but 

the hedged forecast transaction still is expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised in 

accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place, then the 

cumulative unrealised effect recognised in equity is recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income.

(l) FAIR VAlUE ESTImATION

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes.

The fair value of instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over the counter derivatives) is determined using valuation 

techniques. Airways uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions 

existing at the end of each reporting period. 

(m) PROPERTy, PlANT AND EQUIPmENT

(i) RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT 

All classes of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Cost is determined by including all costs directly associated 

with bringing the assets to their location in working condition. The value of property, plant and equipment includes financing costs. 

Capital work in progress includes all expenditure to date on all assets partially completed. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 

carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated 

with the item will flow to Airways and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any replaced parts is written 

off. Repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are 

incurred. Assets no longer required and ultimately intended for sale or disposal are valued at the lower of cost or estimated realisable 

value. Changes in this value are included in the statement of comprehensive income. Gains or losses on the disposal of fixed assets are 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income and are calculated as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying 

value of the asset. If the recoverable amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is less than its carrying amount, the item is 

written down to its recoverable amount. The write down of an asset recorded at historical cost is recognised as an expense  

in the statement of comprehensive income.

(ii) DEPRECIATION 

The cost of all fixed assets (excluding freehold land) less their estimated residual value is written off on a straight line basis over the 

estimated useful economic life of all property, plant and equipment other than freehold land and capital work in progress. Estimated 

useful lives are reviewed annually to consider factors that may affect economic life including, but not limited to:

1. deterioration through use 

2. the effects of the physical environment 

3. obsolescence through technological development 

4. lease terms or other contractual arrangements.
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NOTE 3 SUmmARy OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POlICIES (CONT.)

The estimated useful economic lives are as follows:

(N) INTANGIBlE ASSETS

(i) COMPUTER SOFTWARE 

Acquired computer software costs are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. 

These costs are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives (three to five years).

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense except where the costs 

are directly associated with the development of identifiable and unique software products controlled by Airways, which are expected to 

generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year. These are then recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs include the 

costs of software development employees and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. 

Internally generated software assets are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives (not exceeding 10 years).

(ii) LICENCES 

Separately acquired licenses are capitalised at historical cost. Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated 

amortisation. Amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives.

(O) TRADE ACCOUNTS PAyABlE

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to Airways prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid. The amounts 

are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. These are measured at amortised cost.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(P) BORROWINGS

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any differences 

between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the 

period of the borrowing using the effective interest rate method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless Airways has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 

after the balance date.

DEPRECIATED RANGE ACTUAl WEIGHTED AVERAGE

Land not depreciated not depreciated

Buildings structure: 

Freehold 10-40 years 24 years

Leasehold 8-40 years 25 years

Computers and furniture 3-25 years 8 years 

Plant and equipment 3-30 years 13 years

Motor vehicles 3-10 years 5 years

Intangibles 2-10 years 6 years

Capital work in progress not depreciated not depreciated
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NOTE 3 SUmmARy OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POlICIES (CONT.)

(Q) PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when Airways has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that  

an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised  

for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required to settle is determined by considering the class  

of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class 

of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation, using a pre-tax rate that 

reflects current market assessments of the time value of money, and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to  

the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

(R) EmPlOyEE ENTITlEmENTS

A liability for annual leave, long service leave and retiring leave is accrued and recognised in the balance sheet. The liability is equal to the 

present value of the estimated future outflows as a result of employee services provided at balance date. Where it is necessary, actuarial 

estimates of future demographic trends and employee remuneration are used to calculate these liabilities.

Airways operates various defined contribution schemes. The schemes are funded through payments to trustee administered funds. A defined 

contribution plan is a superannuation plan under which Airways pays fixed contributions into a separate entity (either KiwiSaver or otherwise). 

Airways has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the 

benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

For defined contribution plans, Airways pays contributions to publicly or privately administered superannuation plans on a mandatory, contractual 

or voluntary basis. Airways has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as an 

employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction  

in the future payments is available.

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by Airways before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee 

accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. Airways recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to 

either: terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing 

termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 

Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the balance sheet date are discounted to their present value.

(S) SHARE CAPITAl

Ordinary shares issued by Airways are classified as equity and are recognised at fair value less direct issue costs.

(T) DIVIDENDS

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared on or before balance date but not distributed at balance date.

(U) GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST)

The statement of comprehensive income and the cash flow statement have been prepared so that all components are stated net of GST.  

All items in the balance sheet are stated net of GST, with the exception of receivables and payables, which include GST invoiced.
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NOTE 4 OTHER INCOmE 

NOTE 5 EmPlOyEE REmUNERATION 

NOTE 6 OPERATING COSTS 

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

GROUP PARENT

NOTESFOR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

Consulting and product revenue 16,708 13,228 9 10

Amortisation of deferred income 1,228 1,228 1,228  1,228 24

Management fee received - - 22,070 22,386 27

Other 5,143 4,884 6,270 5,930

23,079 19,340 29,577 29,554

GROUP PARENT

NOTESFOR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

Wages and salaries, including Group and Parent  
termination benefits of $1.035m (2011: $858k) 

85,193 83,780 85,193 83,780

KiwiSaver/superannuation contributions 7,551 7,154 7,551 7,154

Leave entitlements expense 4,241 1,263 4,241 1,263

96,985 92,197 96,985 92,197

GROUP PARENT

NOTESFOR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

Net surplus before taxation includes the  
following specific expenses:

Auditor remuneration 169 159 153 144 7

Bad debts written off and provisions 658 123 37 157

Directors’ fees (including expenses) 282 311 282 311

(Surplus)/deficit on disposal of assets 1 (22) 12 3

Foreign exchange (gains)/losses (57) (3) (64) (6)

Inter-charges and contract delivery costs 9,154 9,763 27,715 26,822

Travel 2,827 2,708 1,793 1,708

Communications 2,367 2,187 39 13

Maintenance 3,574 3,246 479 474

AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011-12  |  65



Financial Statements
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(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

GROUP PARENT

NOTESFOR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

(A)  RECONCIlIATION OF INCOmE TAX EXPENSE  
TO PRImA FACIE TAX PAyABlE 

Surplus before taxation 12,949 7,195 7,140 7,470

Tax at the New Zealand tax rate of 28% (2011: 30%) 3,626 2,158 1,999 2,241

Tax effect of amounts which are either non-deductible  
or taxable in calculating taxable income: 

Expenses not deductible for tax 34 191 26 168

Over provision in prior periods (6) - (4) -

Other (12) 1 (9) (13)

Write-off of deferred tax on asset disposals - - - 29

Effect of change in tax rate - 18 - (33)

Effect of change to tax depreciation on buildings - 120 - 120

INCOmE TAX EXPENSE 3,642 2,488 2,012 2,512

NOTE 8 INCOmE TAX EXPENSE

Buildings are currently depreciated for tax purposes, where this is consistent with legislation governing allowable deductions. From the  

beginning of the 2012 income year, the tax depreciation rate on buildings with an estimated useful life of 50 years or more was reduced  

to 0%. The impact of this reduction in the tax base of the Group’s buildings was recognised in prior years.

GROUP PARENT

NOTESFOR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

PricewaterhouseCoopers for:

Financial statement audit services as an  
agent of the Office of the Auditor-General 137 132 137 132

Financial statement audit services  
by PWC for Joint Venture 8 7 - -

Other assurance services 8 8 - -

GST return services 16 7 16 7

Cross border lease taxation advice - 5 - 5

169 159 153 144 6
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At 30 June 2012 Airways has imputation credits available for use in subsequent reporting periods of $3.701 million (2011: $1.329 million). 

NOTE 9 CASH AND CASH EQUIVAlENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents earned average interest of 2.50 percent (2011: 2.85 percent). Foreign currency deposits with a term of less than one 

year earned average interest at a rate of 2.31 percent (2011: 2.57 percent). 

CREDIT RISk 

Credit risk exists within financial transactions at both counterparty and sovereign level. The settlement of transactions requires the counterparty 

to be capable of meeting its financial obligations and the sovereign government to allow the transaction to occur. Sovereign risk is generally 

associated with the settlement of transactions with an offshore entity. 

Credit risk within Airways arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks as well as credit 

exposures to customers from outstanding receivables. For banks, only parties with a minimum long term Standard and Poors rating of A+ or A1 

or an equivalent credit rating from another internationally recognised ratings agency are accepted.

NOTE 8 INCOmE TAX EXPENSE (CONT.) 

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

GROUP PARENT

NOTESFOR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

(B) INCOmE TAX EXPENSE 

Tax payable in respect of the current year 4,488 2,761 2,634 2,146 18

Tax payable/(receivable) in respect of previous years (115) 33 (132) (18) 18

Deferred tax in respect of current year (837) (413) (617) 263

Deferred tax in respect of previous year 109 (32) 128 18 19

Other (3) 1 (1) (13)

Write-off of deferred tax on asset disposals - - - 29

Effect of change in tax rate - 18 - (33)

Effect of change to tax depreciation on buildings - 120 - 120 19

INCOmE TAX EXPENSE 3,642 2,488 2,012 2,512

(C)  AmOUNTS RECOGNISED IN OTHER  
COmPREHENSIVE INCOmE 

Aggregate deferred tax arising in the period  
recognised in other comprehensive income  
but directly debited or credited to equity 

(710) 40 (710) 40 19

The Group and Parent have no tax losses  
(2011: Nil) and no unrecognised temporary  
differences (2011: Nil) 
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GROUP PARENT

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

CURRENT ASSETS 

Interest rate derivatives - - - -

Foreign currency exchange contracts 523 1,625 523 1,625

523 1,625 523 1,625

CURRENT lIABIlITIES 

Interest rate derivatives (244) (160) (244) (160)

Foreign currency exchange contracts (211) (260) (211) (260)

(455) (420) (455) (420)

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Interest rate derivatives 23 5 23 5

Foreign currency exchange contracts - 118 - 118

23 123 23 123

NON-CURRENT lIABIlITIES 

Interest rate derivatives (2,469) (1,261) (2,469) (1,261)

Foreign currency exchange contracts (11) (124) (11) (124)

(2,480) (1,385) (2,480) (1,385)

TOTAl DERIVATIVE FINANCIAl INSTRUmENTS

Interest rate derivatives (2,690) (1,416) (2,690) (1,416)

Foreign currency exchange contracts 301 1,359 301 1,359

(2,389) (57) (2,389) (57)

NOTE 10 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAl INSTRUmENTS 
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Amounts receivable from related parties are disclosed in note 27.

CREDIT RISk 

Airways five largest customers account for 84.33% (2011: 85.66%) of total Airways charges, revenue and accounts receivable at balance date. 

No collateral is held over receivables that are mainly due from airline companies. No unusual risk has been identified by Airways in relation 

to these companies, however overdue debts are continuously monitored at Group and individual customer levels to identify and address any 

potential specific credit risks. Where customers have a history of poor payment, payment terms are negotiated that require payment before 

delivery of goods or services.

As at 30 June 2012, Group trade receivables of $3.986 million (2011: $1.959 million) were overdue but not impaired. As at 30 June 2012, 

Parent’s trade receivables of $1.653 million (2011: $0.155 million) were overdue but not impaired. Overdue balances are payments not 

received on the due date, which under usual terms are due within 20 days of the month following invoice date.

The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

NOTE 11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABlES 

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

GROUP PARENT

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

Trade accounts receivable 20,256 15,075 14,479 10,887

Other receivables 628 555 4,523 7,926

TOTAl 20,884 15,630 19,002 18,813

GROUP PARENT

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

Overdue 1-30 days 2,802 424 1,520 10

Overdue 31-60 days 237 237 31 9

Overdue 61-90 days 12 375 8 10

Overdue 90 days + 935 923 94 126

TOTAl 3,986 1,959 1,653 155

At 30 June 2012, Group trade receivables of $1.375 million (2011: $0.950 million) and Parent $nil (2011: $nil) were impaired. The amount 

of the provision was $0.749 million (2011: $0.152 million). A portion of impairment is a collective provision for doubtful receivables which is 

reviewed on an ongoing basis and calculated according to Airways accounting policy. In addition, there are individual fully impaired receivables. 

These relate to specific off-shore contracts where uncertainty of recoverability has arisen. Contractual details, the age of debt and customer 

discussions have been considered when finalising the 30 June 2012 position. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

GROUP PARENT

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

Overdue 1-30 days - - - -

Overdue 31-60 days - - - -

Overdue 61-90 days - - - -

Overdue 90 days + 1,375 950 - -

TOTAl 1,375 950 - -
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GROUP

lAND  
FREEHOlD

lAND 
lEASEHOlD

BUIlDINGS 
FREEHOlD

BUIlDINGS 
lEASEHOlD

PlANT & 
EQUIPmENT

COmPUTERS 
& FURNITURE

mOTOR 
VEHIClES

WORk IN 
PROGRESS TOTAl

COST

As at 1 July 2010 6,698 12 16,524 11,622 171,988 37,534 1,599 11,425 257,402

Additions at cost - - (97) 30 10,899 3,576 214 13,519 28,141

Deduct disposals - - (41) (15) (5,878) (142) (156) (15,417) (21,649)

Deduct impairments (359) - - - - - - - (359)

AS AT  
30 JUNE 2011 6,339 12 16,386 11,637 177,009 40,968 1,657 9,527 263,535

ACCUmUlATED 
DEPRECIATION

As at 1 July 2010 - - 7,430 10,791 105,393 26,054 1,282 - 150,950

Charge for period - - 389 97 8,648 3,736 186 - 13,056

Deduct disposals - - (41) (17) (5,846) (141) (156) - (6,201)

AS AT  
30 JUNE 2011 - - 7,778 10,871 108,195 29,649 1,312 - 157,805

NET BOOk 
VAlUE AS AT  
30 JUNE 2011

6,339 12 8,608 766 68,814 11,319 345 9,527 105,730

COST

As at 1 July 2011 6,339 12 16,386 11,637 177,009 40,968 1,657 9,527 263,535

Additions at cost - - 103 104 4,165 2,915 279 16,597 24,163

Deduct disposals - - - - (2,190) (6,537) (105) (7,148) (15,980)

AS AT  
30 JUNE 2012 6,339 12 16,489 11,741 178,984 37,346 1,831 18,976 271,718

ACCUmUlATED 
DEPRECIATION

As at 1 July 2011 - - 7,778 10,871 108,195 29,649 1,312 - 157,805

Charge for period - - 413 108 8,831 3,934 205 - 13,491

Deduct disposals - - - - (2,179) (6,529) (104) - (8,812)

AS AT  
30 JUNE 2012 - - 8,191 10,979 114,847 27,054 1,413 - 162,484

NET BOOk 
VAlUE AS AT  
30 JUNE 2012

6,339 12 8,298 762 64,137 10,292 418 18,976 109,234

NOTE 12 PROPERTy, PlANT AND EQUIPmENT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAl STATEmENTS  NZ IFRS

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 12 PROPERTy, PlANT AND EQUIPmENT (CONT.)

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

PARENT

lAND  
FREEHOlD

lAND 
lEASEHOlD

BUIlDINGS 
FREEHOlD

BUIlDINGS 
lEASEHOlD

PlANT & 
EQUIPmENT

COmPUTERS 
& FURNITURE

mOTOR 
VEHIClES

WORk IN 
PROGRESS TOTAl

COST

As at 1 July 2010 6,698 12 16,151 11,600 166,275 29,497 196 10,469 240,898

Additions at cost - - (97) 29 9,773 3,264 40 11,232 24,241

Deduct disposals - - (41) (15) (5,134) (129) - (14,304) (19,623)

Deduct impairments (359) - - - - - - - (359)

AS AT  
30 JUNE 2011 6,339 12 16,013 11,614 170,914 32,632 236 7,397 245,157

ACCUmUlATED 
DEPRECIATION

As at 1 July 2010 - - 7,321 10,779 101,098 20,924 195 - 140,317

Charge for period - - 381 96 8,323 2,929 14 - 11,743

Deduct disposals - - 109 (165) (5,102) (132) - - (5,290)

AS AT  
30 JUNE 2011 - - 7,811 10,710 104,319 23,721 209 - 146,770

NET BOOk 
VAlUE AS AT  
30 JUNE 2011

6,339 12 8,202 904 66,595 8,911 27 7,397 98,387

COST

As at 1 July 2011 6,339 12 16,013 11,614 170,914 32,632 236 7,397 245,157

Additions at cost - - 6 104 4,067 1,827 30 15,639 21,673

Deduct disposals - - - - (2,138) (5,616) (28) (6,447) (14,229)

AS AT  
30 JUNE 2012 6,339 12 16,019 11,718 172,843 28,843 238 16,589 252,601

ACCUmUlATED 
DEPRECIATION

As at 1 July 2011 - - 7,811 10,710 104,319 23,721 209 - 146,770

Charge for period - - 373 107 8,457 2,996 16 - 11,949

Deduct disposals - - - - (2,127) (5,611) - - (7,738)

AS AT  
30 JUNE 2012 - - 8,184 10,817 110,649 21,106 225 - 150,981

NET BOOk 
VAlUE AS AT  
30 JUNE 2012

6,339 12 7,835 901 62,194 7,737 13 16,589 101,620

Additions and disposals includes transfers between work in progress and asset classes and assets written off. There are no assets intended  

for sale in Property, Plant and Equipment. Certain assets within the Plant and Equipment are subject to a cross border lease arrangement  

(refer to notes 24 and 29). The arrangement does not impose any restrictions on these assets which would affect the ability to use them  

in day-to-day operations.

In the prior year for both the Group and parent, one property became surplus to requirements. Under section 40 of the Public Works Act 1981,  

Airways is required to offer back the land to its original owner or the successors of the formal owner. A valuation was undertaken by an 

independent registered valuer to determine the recoverable amount based on the fair value less costs to sell. The valuation resulted in the  

piece of land being impaired by $0.359 million. There have been no further impairments in 2012. The property is not currently held for sale.
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GROUP

INTERNAlly  
GENERATED SOFTWARE

lICENCES AND  
ACQUIRED SOFTWARE TOTAl

COST

As at 1 July 2010 4,432 3,169 7,601

Additions at cost 743 54 797

Deduct disposals - - -

Deduct impairments (516) - (516)

AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 4,659 3,223 7,882

ACCUmUlATED AmORTISATION 

As at 1 July 2010 1,437 1,309 2,746

Charge for period 520 460 980

Deduct disposals - - -

AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 1,957 1,769 3,726

NET BOOk VAlUE AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 2,702 1,454 4,156

COST

As at 1 July 2011 4,659 3,223 7,882

Additions at cost 104 1,125 1,229

Deduct disposals - (500) (500)

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 4,763 3,848 8,611

ACCUmUlATED AmORTISATION 

As at 1 July 2011 1,957 1,769 3,726

Charge for period 663 682 1,345

Deduct disposals - (500) (500)

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 2,620 1,951 4,571

NET BOOk VAlUE AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 2,143 1,897 4,040

NOTE 13 INTANGIBlE ASSETS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAl STATEmENTS  NZ IFRS

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

Potential indicators of impairment for internally generated software have been considered at balance date, including potential product 

obsolescence and any significant under-performance against planned sales. No indicators were identified and as a result no impairment  

has been required (2011: impairment of $0.516 million recognised).
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PARENT

INTERNAlly  
GENERATED SOFTWARE

lICENCES AND  
ACQUIRED SOFTWARE TOTAl

COST

As at 1 July 2010 1,043 2,204 3,247

Additions at cost 487 28 515

Deduct disposals - - -

AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 1,530 2,232 3,762

ACCUmUlATED AmORTISATION

As at 1 July 2010 456 1,181 1,637

Charge for period 171 349 520

Deduct disposals - - -

AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 627 1,530 2,157

NET BOOk VAlUE AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 903 702 1,605

COST

As at 1 July 2011 1,530 2,232 3,762

Additions at cost 104 357 461

Deduct disposals - (500) (500)

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 1,634 2,089 3,723

ACCUmUlATED AmORTISATION

As at 1 July 2011 627 1,530 2,157

Charge for period 280 392 672

Deduct disposals - (500) (500)

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 907 1,422 2,329

NET BOOk VAlUE AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 727 667 1,394

NOTE 13 INTANGIBlE ASSETS (CONT.)

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 14 TRADE AND OTHER PAyABlES 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAl STATEmENTS  NZ IFRS

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

GROUP PARENT

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

Trade accounts payable 2,586 1,844 2,262 1,664

Interest payable 197 170 197 170

Payroll related payables 1,598 1,868 1,598 1,868

Other accrued liabilities 3,816 3,086 2,062 1,370

Miscellaneous payables 102 70 115 72

TOTAl 8,299 7,038 6,234 5,144

GROUP PARENT

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

Discount rate 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%

Inflation rate 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Future salary increases 3.00% 2.75% 3.00% 2.75%

NOTE 15 EmPlOyEE ENTITlEmENTS

GROUP PARENT

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

Balance Sheet obligations for:

Long service leave 1,389 1,242 1,389 1,242

Retiring leave 6,964 6,043 6,964 6,043

8,353 7,285 8,353 7,285

Statement of Comprehensive Income charge for:

Long service leave 148 82 148 82

Retiring leave 921 472 921 472

1,069 554 1,069 554

(a) Long service leave

Airways grants employees long service leave entitlements based on remuneration and length of service. The specific entitlements are dependent 

on employment contracts.

The principal actuarial assumptions used in determining Airways liability for long service leave entitlements are as follows:

Amounts due to related parties are disclosed in note 27.
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NOTE 15 EmPlOyEE ENTITlEmENTS (CONT.)

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

(b) Retiring leave

The principal actuarial assumptions used in determining Airways liability for retiring leave are as follows:

(c) Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity of the overall liability for employee entitlements to changes in principal assumptions is:

GROUP PARENT

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

Discount rate 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%

Inflation rate 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Future salary increases 3.00% 2.75% 3.00% 2.75%

NOTE 17 BORROWINGS 

Airways has two bank funding facilities. The first is a three-year term loan and stand-by facility that allows Airways to borrow up to $55 million.  

This facility expires in January 2014, and is therefore classified as a Non-Current Liability (2011: classified as a Non-Current Liability). In addition, 

the facility includes a committed money market loan of $5 million which expires in November 2012. This facility may be extended to January 

2014 at the banks discretion.

At present Airways has drawn $27 million (2011: $30 million) of this funding line.  The average effective interest rate of the facility was 5.98 

percent (2011: 4.41 percent) for the year.  The second is a short term uncommitted facility that allows Airways to borrow up to $5 million.

NOTE 16 PROVISIONS

GROUP PARENT

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

Restructuring 
Opening balance

- - - -

Additions 1,035 - 1,035 -

Closing balance 1,035 - 1,035 -

The restructuring provision relates to the termination of employment. It is expected the sums provided will be paid within one year.

CHANGE IN ASSUmPTION INCREASE/(DECREASE)  
IN OVERAll lIABlIITy

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

Future salary increase to 2.00% to 1.75% (497) (409)

Future salary increase to 4.00% to 3.75% 553 454

Resignation rates 50% of assumed 50% of assumed (13) (10)

Resignation rates 150% of assumed 150% of assumed 14 9
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(i) LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that Airways will be unable to meet its short term and/or long term cash requirements in an orderly manner as they  

arise. Liquidity risk arises within Airways where there is a mismatch between the maturity profile of financial assets and liabilities in the short  

and medium term and credit facilities are not available to roll over or to cover temporary cash shortfalls. Liquidity risk also arises from reliance  

on a small number of customers to provide the majority of ongoing cash inflow for the Group. 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of 

committed credit facilities. 

Short and medium term liquidity management involves the preparation, monitoring and re-forecasting of cash flows, efficient management of 

bank accounts and money market activity, and the guaranteed availability of unutilised credit facilities. Long term liquidity risk is managed through 

Airways long term capital adequacy planning process. Management monitors rolling 10-year forecasts ensuring our committed credit lines have 

the provision to accommodate 10% surplus funding over and above our projected maximum level of debt, as defined in the first 3 to 5 years  

of the 10-year capital adequacy forecast.

NOTE 17 BORROWINGS (CONT.)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAl STATEmENTS  NZ IFRS

NOTE 18 CURRENT TAX (PAyABlE)/RECEIVABlE

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

GROUP PARENT

NOTES2012 2011 2012 2011

mOVEmENTS 

BAlANCE AS AT 1 JUly (662) 1,919 (215) 3,167

Tax (payable)/receivable in respect of the current year (4,488) (2,761) (2,634) (2,146) 8

Tax receivable in respect of the previous years 115 (33) 132 18 8

Tax paid during the year 3,225 213 3,168 36

Tax losses (to)/from entities within the Group - - (463) (1,290)

BAlANCE AS AT 30 JUNE (1,810) (662) (12) (215)
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NOTE 19 DEFERRED TAXATION

GROUP

DEPRECIATION PROVISIONS OTHER TOTAl NOTES

BAlANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 (14,397) 4,967 (151) (9,581)

Deferred tax in respect of previous years (15) 47 - 32

Deferred tax charged to net surplus (327) 719 21 413

Effect of change to tax depreciation on buildings  
charged to net surplus (120) - - (120) 8

Deferred tax on items charged to other comprehensive income - - (40) (40)

Effect of change to income tax rate charged to net surplus 31 (48) (1) (18)

BAlANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 (14,828) 5,685 (171) (9,314)

Deferred tax in respect of previous years - (109) - (109)

Deferred tax charged to net surplus 178 1,366 (707) 837

Deferred tax on items charged to other comprehensive income - - 710 710

BAlANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 (14,650) 6,942 (168) (7,876)

The amount of the deferred tax balance expected to be utilised within one year is $0.954 million (2011: $0.173 million). 

PARENT

DEPRECIATION PROVISIONS OTHER TOTAl NOTES

BAlANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 (12,888) 5,253 80 (7,555)

Deferred tax in respect of previous years (14) (4) - (18)

Deferred tax charged to net surplus (529) 215 36 (278)

Effect of change to tax depreciation on buildings  
charged to net surplus (120) - - (120) 8

Deferred tax on items charged to other comprehensive income - - (40) (40)

Effect of change to income tax rate charged to net surplus 44 (14) 3 33

BAlANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 (13,507) 5,450 79 (7,978)

Deferred tax in respect of previous years - (128) - (128)

Deferred tax charged to net surplus 119 1,195 (697) 617

Deferred tax on items charged to other comprehensive income - - 710 710

BAlANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 (13,388) 6,517 92 (6,779)

The amount of the deferred tax balance expected to be utilised within one year is $0.624 million (2011: $0.041 million).

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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AS AT 30 JUNE 
lOANS AND  

RECEIVABlES
DERIVATIVES USED 

FOR HEDGING
lIABIlITIES AT 

AmORTISED COST TOTAl

GROUP 2012

ASSETS AS PER BAlANCE SHEET 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,792 - - 5,792

Trade and other receivables 20,884 - - 20,884

Derivative financial instruments - 546 - 546

TOTAl 26,676 546 - 27,222

lIABIlITIES AS PER BAlANCE SHEET

Borrowings - - 27,000 27,000

Trade and other payables - - 5,355 5,355

Employee entitlements - - 28,394 28,394

Provisions - - 1,035 1,035

Derivative financial instruments - 2,935 - 2,935

TOTAl - 2,935 61,784 64,719

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAl STATEmENTS  NZ IFRS

NOTE 20 FINANCIAl INSTRUmENTS By CATEGORy

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

AS AT 30 JUNE 
lOANS AND  

RECEIVABlES
DERIVATIVES USED 

FOR HEDGING
lIABIlITIES AT 

AmORTISED COST TOTAl

GROUP 2011

ASSETS AS PER BAlANCE SHEET 

Cash and cash equivalents 7,854 - - 7,854

Trade and other receivables 15,630 - - 15,630

Derivative financial instruments - 1,748 - 1,748

TOTAl 23,484 1,748 - 25,232

lIABIlITIES AS PER BAlANCE SHEET

Borrowings - - 30,000 30,000

Trade and other payables - - 4,005 4,005

Employee entitlements - - 24,154 24,154

Derivative financial instruments - 1,805 - 1,805

TOTAl - 1,805 58,159 59,964
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AS AT 30 JUNE 
lOANS AND  

RECEIVABlES
DERIVATIVES USED 

FOR HEDGING
lIABIlITIES AT 

AmORTISED COST TOTAl

PARENT 2011

ASSETS AS PER BAlANCE SHEET 

Cash and cash equivalents 7,853 - - 7,853

Trade and other receivables 18,813 - - 18,813

Derivative financial instruments - 1,748 - 1,748

TOTAl 26,666 1,748 - 28,414

lIABIlITIES AS PER BAlANCE SHEET

Borrowings - - 30,000 30,000

Trade and other payables - - 2,463 2,463

Employee entitlements - - 24,154 24,154

Derivative financial instruments - 1,805 - 1,805

TOTAl - 1,805 56,617 58,422

NOTE 20 FINANCIAl INSTRUmENTS By CATEGORy (CONT.)

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

AS AT 30 JUNE 
lOANS AND  

RECEIVABlES
DERIVATIVES USED 

FOR HEDGING
lIABIlITIES AT 

AmORTISED COST TOTAl

PARENT 2012

ASSETS AS PER BAlANCE SHEET 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,792 - - 5,792

Trade and other receivables 19,002 - - 19,002

Derivative financial instruments - 546 - 546

TOTAl 24,794 546 - 25,340

lIABIlITIES AS PER BAlANCE SHEET

Borrowings - - 27,000 27,000

Trade and other payables - - 3,604 3,604

Employee entitlements - - 28,394 28,394

Provisions - - 1,035 1,035

Derivative financial instruments - 2,935 - 2,935

TOTAl - 2,935 60,033 62,968
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAl STATEmENTS  NZ IFRS

NOTE 21 FINANCIAl RISk mANAGEmENT

mARkET RISk 

Risk management is undertaken by management who manage certain financial risks, including foreign currency, credit, liquidity, and interest 

rate risk under a Treasury Policy that is approved by the Board of Directors. 

(i) CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Airways objective when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for Shareholders, 

benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain an appropriate capital structure. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, Airways 

may adjust the amount of dividends paid to Shareholders, return capital to Shareholders, increase or reduce debt, sell assets, or reduce 

capital expenditure. The borrowing note (note 17) within this report includes further information. 

(ii) CURRENCY RISK 

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the corporation may suffer financial loss due to a movement of foreign exchange rates relative to 

its domestic currency. Airways is exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of revenue contracts, capital expenditure and operational 

expenditure denominated in foreign currencies. The currencies in which Airways primarily deals are US Dollar, Euro, Pounds Sterling, 

Australian Dollar and the Japanese Yen. 

The Treasury Policy requires that foreign currency exposures greater than NZD 20,000 are hedged. Foreign exchange instruments approved 

under the policy are forward exchange contracts and currency options. The Treasury Policy also allows small foreign currency bank balances  

to be held to hedge foreign currency transactions of less than NZD 20,000. 

Under the Treasury Policy set out above, substantially all of Airways exposure to currency risk is hedged using Forward Exchange Contracts 

(FECs). As at 30 June 2012, Airways has entered into FECs to sell the equivalent of $NZ5.485 million (2011: $NZ10.637 million) and to buy  

the equivalent of $NZ3.399 million (2011: $NZ5.087 million). The tables below set out the notional $NZ value and notional foreign currency 

(FX)	by	currencies	for	all	FECs	which	is	Airways	underlying	exposure	to	currency	risk.

FEC BUyS 
hedging foreign currency  

liability/commitment exposure

FEC SEllS 
hedging foreign currency  
asset/receipt exposure

AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 Notional Value 
(FX ‘000)

Notional Value 
(NZD ‘000)

Notional Value 
(FX ‘000)

Notional Value 
(NZD ‘000)

FOREIGN CURRENCy 

AUD - - 305 393

EUR 1,101 1,968 - -

GBP 10 22 - -

JPY - - 5,019 77

USD 2,250 3,097 6,880 10,167

TOTAl 3,361 5,087 12,204 10,637
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NOTE 21 FINANCIAl RISk mANAGEmENT (CONT.)

FEC BUyS 
hedging foreign currency  

liability/commitment exposure

FEC SEllS 
hedging foreign currency  
asset/receipt exposure

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 Notional Value 
(FX ‘000)

Notional Value 
(NZD ‘000)

Notional Value 
(FX ‘000)

Notional Value 
(NZD ‘000)

FOREIGN CURRENCy 

AUD 60 76 128 164

EUR 629 1,085 32 53

GBP 31 61 - -

JPY - - 18,980 316

USD 1,629 2,177 3,550 4,952

TOTAl 2,349 3,399 22,690 5,485

INTEREST RATES HEDGE lImITS mAXImUm TERm

>9.90% Up to 90% of forecast debt using interest  
rate caps/options 3 years

Between 7.0 and 9.9% Up to 25% of forecast debt using interest rate swaps  
and up to 65% using interest rate caps/options 5 years 

Between 6.0 and 7.0% Between 25% and 50% of forecast debt using interest rate 
swaps, and up to 25% using interest rate caps/options 7 years 

<6.0% Up to 90% of forecast debt using interest rate swaps 10 years

These contracts are hedging committed or highly probable forecast contracted revenue streams, capital expenditure and operational expenditure. The 

contracts are timed to mature when the transaction is scheduled to be settled. Where forward contracts have been designated and tested as an effective 

hedge, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognised directly in equity. When the 

contracts are settled, these gains or losses are recorded against the underlying revenue stream, capital expenditure item, or operational expenditure. 

Where forward contracts are not designated and therefore not tested as an effective hedge, the gain or loss on the forward contract is recognised in 

the statement of comprehensive income as a foreign exchange gain or loss. At balance date, there were no contracts that had not been designated  

as effective hedges (2011: Nil). The maturity table in note 21 (iv) provides further detail on the maturity profile of foreign currency hedge contracts. 

(iii) INTEREST RATE RISK 

Airways interest rate risk arises from short and long term borrowings typically incurred to finance major capital projects. Borrowings are at 

variable rates, exposing Airways to interest rate risk. The objective of Airways interest rate risk management policy is to ensure that Airways 

profitability is not exposed to material fluctuations in interest rates. Airways monitors interest rates on an ongoing basis and uses swaps and 

caps, forward rate agreements and interest rate options to reduce Airways exposure to adverse movements in interest rates. The Treasury 

Policy requires Airways to hedge its interest rate risk applying the principles of mean reversion (a concept that suggests that interest rates  

will tend back to the mean or average over time), within the following control limits:

The following maximum hedge limits apply to the coverage levels above:  

1-3 years: 90% of forecast debt 

3-5 years: The greater of 75% of forecast debt and core debt 

6-10 years: core debt

As at 30 June 2012, Airways had entered into interest rate swaps with a notional value of $27 million (2011: $30 million) and interest rate 

caps with a notional value of $nil (2011: $5 million).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAl STATEmENTS  NZ IFRS

AS AT 30 JUNE

lESS 
THAN 6 

mTHS

BETWEEN  
6 mTHS &  

1 yEAR

BETWEEN  
1 & 2 

yEARS 

BETWEEN 
2 & 5 

yEARS

GREATER 
THAN  

5 yEARS

NO 
STATED 

mATURITy

GROUP 2011 

Cash and cash equivalents 7,854 - - - - -

Trade and other receivables 15,630 - - - - -

Interest rate derivatives – inflow - - - - 146 -

Interest rate derivatives – outflow (391) (383) (497) (338) - -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – inflow* 8,955 394 1,288 - - -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – outflow* (3,073) (790) (1,224) - - -

Trade and other payables (4,405) - - - - -

Employee entitlements - - - - - (24,154)

Term loan (483) (483) (967) (31,745) - -

Financial guarantee contracts (1) (8) - - - -

TOTAl 24,086 (1,270) (1,400) (32,083) 146 (24,154)

NOTE 21 FINANCIAl RISk mANAGEmENT (CONT.)

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

(iv) LIQUIDITY RISK 

Refer to note 17 for discussion of the extent and nature of liquidity risk in Airways and the relevant risk management framework in place. 

Further analysis of liquidity risk is provided in the maturity table below. 

mATURITy TABlE 

The table below analyses Airways financial asset and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance 

date to the maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

*The flows represent the contractual obligations in New Zealand Dollars of the foreign exchange contracts.
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AS AT 30 JUNE

lESS 
THAN  

6 mTHS

BETWEEN 
6 mTHS &  

1 yEAR

BETWEEN 
1 & 2 

yEARS 

BETWEEN 
2 & 5 

yEARS

GREATER 
THAN  

5 yEARS

NO 
STATED 

mATURITy

GROUP 2012 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,792 - - - - -

Trade and other receivables 20,884 - - - - -

Interest rate derivatives – inflow - - - - 15 -

Interest rate derivatives – outflow (400) (363) (556) (1,132) (471) -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – inflow* 2,837 230 332 - - -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – outflow* (5,263) (221) - - - -

Trade and other payables (5,355) - - - - -

Employee entitlements - - - - - (28,394)

Provisions (1,035) - - - - -

Term loan 436 436 873 27,561 - -

Financial guarantee contracts (14) - - - - -

TOTAl 17,882 82 649 26,429 (456) (28,394)

NOTE 21 FINANCIAl RISk mANAGEmENT (CONT.)

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

AS AT 30 JUNE

lESS 
THAN  

6 mTHS

BETWEEN 
6 mTHS &  

1 yEAR

BETWEEN 
1 & 2 

yEARS 

BETWEEN 
2 & 5 

yEARS

GREATER 
THAN  

5 yEARS

NO 
STATED 

mATURITy

PARENT 2011 

Cash and cash equivalents 7,853 - - - - -

Trade and other receivables 18,813 - - - - -

Interest rate derivatives – inflow - - - - 146 -

Interest rate derivatives – outflow (391) (383) (497) (338) - -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – inflow* 8,955 394 1,288 - - -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – outflow* (3,073) (790) (1,224) - - -

Trade and other payables (2,463) - - - - -

Employee entitlements - - - - - (24,154)

Term loan (483) (483) (967) (31,745) - -

Financial guarantee contracts (1) (8) - - - -

TOTAl 29,210 (1,270) (1,400) (32,083) 146 (24,154)

*The flows represent the contractual obligations in New Zealand Dollars of the foreign exchange contracts.
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NOTE 21 FINANCIAl RISk mANAGEmENT (CONT.)

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

AS AT 30 JUNE

lESS 
THAN  

6 mTHS

BETWEEN 
6 mTHS &  

1 yEAR

BETWEEN 
1 & 2 

yEARS 

BETWEEN 
2 & 5 

yEARS

GREATER 
THAN  

5 yEARS

NO 
STATED 

mATURITy

PARENT 2012 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,792 - - - - -

Trade and other receivables 19,002 - - - - -

Interest rate derivatives – inflow - - - - 15 -

Interest rate derivatives – outflow (400) (363) (556) (1,132) (471) -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – inflow* 2,837 230 332 - - -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – outflow* (5,263) (221) - - - -

Trade and other payables (3,604) - - - - -

Employee entitlements - - - - - (28,394)

Provisions (1,035) - - - - -

Term loan 436 436 873 27,561 - -

Financial guarantee contracts (14) - - - - -

TOTAl 17,751 82 649 26,429 (456) (28,394)

*The flows represent the contractual obligations in New Zealand Dollars of the foreign exchange contracts. 

(v) CREDIT RISK 

Refer to notes 9 and 11 for discussion of the extent and nature of credit risk in Airways and the relevant risk management framework in place. 

SENSITIVITy ANAlySIS 

The table below illustrates what the impact on the profit after tax and total equity would have been if the market risk factors had moved by 

the percentage indicated, assuming all other factors had stayed the same. The reasonably possible movements in market risk factors have 

been identified as 100 basis point interest rates movement and 10% movement of the New Zealand Dollar against all other currencies. 

These factors were identified given historical market risk movements experienced by Airways.

DOWN – 100 BASIS POINTS UP + 100 BASIS POINTS

INTEREST RATES CARRyING 
AmOUNT PROFIT EQUITy PROFIT EQUITy

GROUP 2011 

Cash and cash equivalents 7,854 (79) (79) 79 79

Term loan – hedged (30,000) - - - -

Interest rate derivatives (1,417) - (1,380) - 1,286

GROUP 2012

Cash and cash equivalents 5,792 (58) (58) 58 58

Term loan – hedged 27,000 - - - -

Interest rate derivatives (2,690) - (1,774) - 1,627
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CARRyING 
AmOUNT

DOWN – 10% UP + 10%

FOREIGN EXCHANGE PROFIT EQUITy PROFIT EQUITy

PARENT 2011 

Cash and cash equivalents 777 78 78 (78) (78)

Foreign exchange contracts (Net) 1,360 - 359 - (475)

Accounts	receivable	(FX	Contracts)	 1,383 138 138 (138) (138)

PARENT 2012 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,260 126 126 (126) (126)

Foreign exchange contracts (Net) 301 - 150 - (210)

Accounts	receivable	(FX	Contracts)	 3,703 370 370 (370) (370)

DOWN – 100 BASIS POINTS UP + 100 BASIS POINTS

INTEREST RATES CARRyING 
AmOUNT PROFIT EQUITy PROFIT EQUITy

PARENT 2011

Cash and cash equivalents 7,853 (79) (79) 79 79

Term loan – hedged (30,000) - - - -

Interest rate derivatives (1,417) - (1,380) - 1,286

PARENT 2012

Cash and cash equivalents 5,792 (58) (58) 58 58

Term loan – hedged 27,000 - - - -

Interest rate derivatives (2,690) - (1,774) - 1,627

NOTE 21 FINANCIAl RISk mANAGEmENT (CONT.)

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

DOWN – 10% UP + 10%

FOREIGN EXCHANGE CARRyING 
AmOUNT PROFIT EQUITy PROFIT EQUITy

GROUP 2011 

Cash and cash equivalents 778 78 78 (78) (78)

Foreign exchange contracts (Net) 1,360 - 359 - (475)

Accounts	receivable	(FX	Contracts)	 1,383 138 138 (138) (138)

GROUP 2012 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,260 126 126 (126) (126)

Foreign exchange contracts (Net) 301 - 150 - (210)

Accounts	receivable	(FX	Contracts)	 3,703 370 370 (370) (370)
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NOTE 21 FINANCIAl RISk mANAGEmENT (CONT.)

FAIR VAlUE HIERARCHy 

For those instruments recognised at fair value on the balance sheet, fair values are determined according to the following hierarchy: 

level 1 
Quoted market price – Financial instruments with quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.

level 2 
Valuation technique using observable inputs – Financial instruments with quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets or quoted prices 

for identical or similar instruments in inactive markets and financial instruments valued using models where all significant inputs are observable.

level 3 
Valuation techniques with significant non-observable inputs – Financial instruments valued using models where on or more significant inputs 

are not observable.

VAlUATION TECHNIQUE

lEVEl 1 lEVEl 2 lEVEl 3

AS AT 30 JUNE 

QUOTED  
mARkET PRICE

OBSERVABlE 
INPUTS

SIGNIFICANT 
NON-OBSERVABlE 

INPUTS
TOTAl

GROUP 2011 

ASSETS 

Interest rate derivatives - 5 - 5

Foreign currency exchange contracts - 1,743 - 1,743

TOTAl ASSETS - 1,748 - 1,748

lIABIlITIES 

Interest rate derivatives - (1,421) - (1,421)

Foreign currency exchange contracts - (383) - (383)

TOTAl lIABIlITIES - (1,804) - (1,804)

GROUP 2012 

ASSETS 

Interest rate derivatives - 23 - 23

Foreign currency exchange contracts - 523 - 523

TOTAl ASSETS - 546 - 546

lIABIlITIES 

Interest rate derivatives - (2,713) - (2,713)

Foreign currency exchange contracts - (222) - (222)

TOTAl lIABIlITIES - (2,935) - (2,935)

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

The following table analyses the basis of the valuation of classes of financial instruments measured at fair value on the balance sheet:
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NOTE 21 FINANCIAl RISk mANAGEmENT (CONT.)

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

VAlUATION TECHNIQUE

lEVEl 1 lEVEl 2 lEVEl 3

AS AT 30 JUNE QUOTED  
mARkET PRICE

OBSERVABlE 
INPUTS

SIGNIFICANT 
NON-OBSERVABlE 

INPUTS
TOTAl

PARENT 2011 

ASSETS 

Interest rate derivatives - 5 - 5

Foreign currency exchange contracts - 1,743 - 1,743

TOTAl ASSETS - 1,748 - 1,748

lIABIlITIES 

Interest rate derivatives - (1,421) - (1,421)

Foreign currency exchange contracts - (383) - (383)

TOTAl lIABIlITIES - (1,804) - (1,804)

PARENT 2012 

ASSETS 

Interest rate derivatives - 23 - 23

Foreign currency exchange contracts - 523 - 523

TOTAl ASSETS - 546 - 546

lIABIlITIES 

Interest rate derivatives - (2,713) - (2,713)

Foreign currency exchange contracts - (222) - (222)

TOTAl lIABIlITIES - (2,935) - (2,935)

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values for each class of financial instruments: 

(i) The carrying values of cash, current receivables, current payables and unsecured loans are equivalent to their fair values.

(ii) Derivatives Fair Values

1. Forward Exchange Contracts values are determined using observable forward exchange market rates at the balance date.

2.  Interest Rate Swaps and Interest Rate Caps are valued using the “Projected” methodology as follows. For floating rates this method 

projects all future floating cash flows and discounts this back to the revaluation date. For fixed rates, the individual cash flows are 

discounted from the cash flow date to the revaluation date. The discount rate used to calculate the NPV of the deal is the zero 

coupon curve, based on a blended swaps curve obtained from Reuters.
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NOTE 22 CAPITAl COmmITmENTS

NOTE 24 OTHER lEASES

NOTE 23 OPERATING lEASE COmmITmENTS 

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

The table below illustrates the total capital commitments for Airways and Parent at balance date. 

Airways will fund this programme through operating cash flow and increase debt (whilst remaining within current loan facilities and covenants). 

During 2003 and 2004 Airways entered into a cross border lease of certain equipment associated with the Skyline Air Traffic Management 

System and Surveillance Systems. The arrangement was for 24 years and was to expire in 2027. The arrangement did not impose any 

restrictions on these assets which would affect the ability to use them in day-to-day operations. 

A guarantee fee was received that was to be recognised over the period of the lease. An amount of $1.228 million (2011: $1.228 million)  

has been recognised in the current year and the unrecognised amount is disclosed as deferred income. 

Airways provided certain guarantees and indemnities to various participants in the cross border transaction. If certain events occurred, Airways could 

have been liable to make additional payments. The underlying exposures against which these guarantees and indemnities were provided were 

substantial. The Directors believed, based on external advice, that unless exceptional, extreme and unlikely circumstances arose, Airways would not 

have been required to make significant payments under these guarantees and indemnities. The likelihood of losses in respect of these guarantees was 

considered to be remote. 

The cross border lease was terminated on 25 July 2012 via the early buy-out options available in the original lease agreements. This termination 

has significantly reduced the exposure under the guarantees and indemnities mentioned above. Refer to note 29 Subsequent Events for further 

information on this termination.

Lease commitments under non-cancellable operating leases: 

GROUP PARENT

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

Total capital commitments 16,150 7,376 13,769 6,466

GROUP PARENT

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

Less than one year 3,896 4,017 3,896 4,017

One to two years 3,473 3,717 3,473 3,717

Two to five years 7,849 9,161 7,849 9,161

Over five years 2,052 4,276 2,052 4,276

TOTAl OPERATING lEASE OBlIGATIONS 17,270 21,171 17,270 21,171

These lease commitments relate to both unsigned leases under negotiation, and signed leases. Management has estimated future lease 

commitments for unsigned leases, based on the most recent lease negotiations. Airways leases various land, buildings, IT hardware and 

equipment under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. Lease terms are between two and twenty one years and most agreements  

are renewable at the end of the lease period. 
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COUNTRy OF  
INCORPORATION

PERCENTAGE  
SHAREHOlDING PRINCIPAl ACTIVITIES 

Airways International Limited New Zealand 100% Air Navigation Services, maintenance  
of systems, consultancy and training

Airways Equipment Limited New Zealand 100% A participant in a cross border lease  
transaction entered into by Airways

Airways Training Limited New Zealand 100% Holding company 

Aviation English Services New Zealand 50% Aviation English Training Joint Venture 

NOTE 25 CONTINGENT lIABIlITIES

NOTE 26 GROUP ENTITIES AND OWNERSHIP

NOTE 27 RElATED PARTIES

Airways has contingent liabilities in respect to financial guarantee contracts of $2.8 million (2011: $0.9 million) in addition to those identified. 

Airways is a State-Owned Enterprise, wholly owned by the New Zealand Government. Its shareholders are the Minister of Finance and the 

Minister for State-Owned Enterprises. Airways International Limited, Airways Equipment Limited and Airways Training Limited are wholly owned  

by Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited. 

The Parent assumes responsibility for settlement of the tax (credit)\liability of Airways International Limited $1.627 million;  

(2011: $0.044 million) and Airways Equipment Limited $0.004 million; (2011: $0.004 million). 

A management fee was charged to Airways International Limited by the Parent of $22.070 million (2011: $22.386 million).

Airways International Limited charged the Parent a management fee of $22.070 million (2011: $22.386 million) 

The Parent was charged a rental fee by Airways Equipment Limited of $1.213 million (2011: $1.213 million) and received a management  

fee of $1.200 million (2011: $1.200 million) from Airways Equipment Limited.
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GROUP PARENT

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

INTER-COmPANy BAlANCES 

Aviation English Services – Joint Venture 285 380 5 82

Airways International Limited - - 4,650 8,097

Airways Equipment Limited - - (186) (177)

INTER-COmPANy lOAN 

Airways Training Limited - - 11 3

SHAREHOlDERS

Dividends paid 5,000 6,000 5,000 6,000

NOTE 27 RElATED PARTIES (CONT.)

A provision for doubtful debts of $0.004 million was recognised during the year on related party balances (2011: $0.189 million) due to the Parent.

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

Key management are considered to be the Chief Executive Officer, his direct reports and the Board of Directors.

GROUP PARENT

FOR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

kEy mANAGEmENT COmPENSATION

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 1,850 1,867 1,850 1,867

Termination benefits - 207 - 207

KiwiSaver/superannuation contributions 88 79 88 79

1,938 2,153 1,938 2,153

DIRECTORS’ FEES

Directors’ fees paid 242 268 242 268

90  |  AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011-12



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAl STATEmENTS  NZ IFRS

GROUP PARENT

FOR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

INCOmE STATEmENT 

The Group’s 50% share of operating revenues  
and expenses for the year, equity accounted, was:

Revenue 57 152 - -

Expenses (61) (341) - -

NOTE 28 JOINT VENTURE AND OTHER INVESTmENTS 

JOINT VENTURE 

Airways has a 50% participating interest in an Aviation English Training Joint Venture. Under the joint venture, profits and losses are shared equally. 

The joint venture runs its operation under the name Aviation English Services.

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

Airways share of the joint venture’s recognised revenue and expenses has not been recognised in the current year as the carrying value of 

the investment at balance date was $nil (2011: $nil). There was a reduction in the Airways receivable from the joint venture of $0.004 million 

(2011: $0.189 million).

Under the joint venture, Airways is jointly and severally liable for the obligations of the joint venture. Airways maximum potential exposure  

in this regard is 100% of the joint venture’s obligations. No provision has been recognised in respect of these obligations as management 

consider that it is possible but not probable that such an outflow is required at balance date.
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GROUP PARENT

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011

BAlANCE SHEET

The Group’s 50% share of the balance sheet, was:

CURRENT ASSETS 

Trade receivables 11 6 - -

Other current assets 16 11 - -

27 17 - -

SHARE OF TOTAl ASSETS INClUDED IN GROUP 27 17 - -

CURRENT lIABlITIES 

Bank overdraft (128) (91) - -

Accrued liabilities (61) (70) - -

Loan – Airways (105) (105) - -

(294) (266) - -

NET ASSETS EmPlOyED IN THE JOINT VENTURE (267) (249) - -

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURE

Balance as at 1 July - - - -

Share of recognised revenues and expenses - - - -

BAlANCE AS AT 30 JUNE - - - -

OTHER INVESTmENTS 

Investment subsidiaries - - 100 100

Other investments - - - -

BAlANCE AS AT 30 JUNE - - 100 100

NOTE 28 JOINT VENTURE AND OTHER INVESTmENTS (CONT.)

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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GROUP PARENT

FOR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 2011 2012 2011 NOTES

NET	SURPLUS	AFTER	TAXATION	 9,307 4,707 5,128 4,958

ADD NON CASH ITEMS 

Accounting (surplus)/loss on sale of fixed assets 1 (22) 12 3 6

Amortisation 1,345 980 672 520 13

Depreciation 13,491 13,056 11,949 11,743 12

Asset impairment - 875 - 359 12,13

Share of loss from Joint Venture - 189 - - 28

TOTAl ADJUSTmENTS FOR ITEmS IN SURPlUS  
NOT ImPACTING CASH FlOW 14,837 15,078 12,633 12,625

ADD MOVEMENTS IN WORKING CAPITAL ITEMS

Increase/(decrease) in payables 5,344 2,328 8,613 (403)

Decrease/(increase) in receivables (5,611) 5,650 (5,065) 7,936

TOTAl ADJUSTmENTS FOR ITEmS NOT IN SURPlUS  
ImPACTING CASH FlOW (267) 7,978 3,548 7,533

NET CASH INFlOW FROm OPERATING ACTIVITIES 23,877 27,763 21,309 25,116

NOTE 29 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

NOTE 30 RECONCIlIATION OF THE NET CASH FlOW FROm OPERATING ACTIVITIES TO REPORTED SURPlUS

The cross border lease which is described in note 24 was terminated on 25 July 2012 via the early buy-out option available in the original  

lease agreements. This termination will result in the recognition of the remaining $18.841 million of guarantee fee from deferred income to 

other revenue in the 2012-13 financial year for Airways parent company. This will reduce other income by $1.228 million in the 2014-2028 

financial years.

There have been no other significant events occurring since balance date requiring disclosure.

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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TO THE READERS OF AIRWAyS CORPORATION OF NEW ZEAlAND lImITED AND GROUP’S FINANCIAl STATEmENTS  
FOR THE yEAR END 30 JUNE 2012

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited (the Company) and Group. The Auditor-General has 

appointed me, Lesley Mackle, using the staff and resources of PricewaterhouseCoopers, to carry out the audit of the financial statements of the 

Company and Group, on her behalf. 

We have audited the financial statements of the Company and Group on pages 48 to 93, that comprise the balance sheets as at 30 June 2012, 

the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year ended on that date and 

the notes to the financial statements that include accounting policies and other explanatory information.

OPINION ON THE FINANCIAl STATEmENTS 

In our opinion the financial statements of the Company and Group on pages 48 to 93:

•	 comply	with	generally	accepted	accounting	practice	in	New	Zealand;

•	 comply	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards;	and

•	 give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	Company	and	Group’s:

 - financial positions as at 30 June 2012; and

 - financial performances and cash flows for the year ended on that date.

OPINION ON OTHER lEGAl REQUIREmENTS

In accordance with the Financial Reporting Act 1993 we report that, in our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company 

as far as appears from an examination of those records.

Our audit was completed on 30 August 2012. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board of Directors and our responsibilities, and 

explain our independence.

BASIS OF OPINION

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the International Standards on Auditing 

(New Zealand). Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and carry out our audit to obtain reasonable 

assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would affect a reader’s overall understanding of the 

financial statements. If we had found material misstatements that were not corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion.

An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 

procedures selected depend on our judgement, including our assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial statements whether 

due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the preparation of the Company and Group’s 

financial statements that give a true and fair view of the matters to which they relate. We consider internal control in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company and 

Group’s internal control.
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An audit also involves evaluating:

•	 the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	whether	they	have	been	consistently	applied;

•	 the	reasonableness	of	the	significant	accounting	estimates	and	judgements	made	by	the	Board	of	Directors;

•	 the	adequacy	of	all	disclosures	in	the	financial	statements;	and

•	 the	overall	presentation	of	the	financial	statements.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the financial statements. In accordance with the Financial 

Reporting Act 1993, we report that we have obtained all the information and explanations we have required. We believe we have obtained 

sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

RESPONSIBIlITIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors is responsible for preparing financial statements that:

•	 comply	with	generally	accepted	accounting	practice	in	New	Zealand;	and

•	 give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	Company	and	Group’s	financial	positions,	financial	performances	and	cash	flows.	

The Board of Directors is also responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

The Board of Directors’ responsibilities arise from the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986 and the Financial Reporting Act 1993. 

RESPONSIBIlITIES OF THE AUDITOR

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and reporting that opinion to you based on our audit. Our 

responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and section 19(1) of the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986.

INDEPENDENCE

When carrying out the audit we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General, which incorporate the independence 

requirements of the New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants. 

In addition to the audit we have carried out assignments in the areas of other assurance services and provided taxation services with respect to 

GST returns, which are compatible with those independence requirements. Other than the audit and these assignments, we have no relationship 

with or interests in the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

lesley mackle 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 

Wellington, New Zealand

PricewaterhouseCoopers

AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011-12  |  95



Financial Statements

(All figures shown in table are in $NZ millions unless otherwise stated)

FOR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE PARENT 2012 PARENT 2011

DEBT AND EQUITy EmPlOyED

Debt Employed 37.7 43.9

Equity Employed 93.2 87.0

Total Debt & Equity Employed 130.9 130.9

Charge on Operating Capital 7.4 8.2

Charge on Equity Capital 6.3 6.2

Economic Value Added 0.9 2.0

SUmmARy OF PARAmETERS FOR COST OF CAPITAl

Risk free rate – 5 year Government Stock 3.51% 4.47%

Market risk premium 7.00% 7.00%

Company tax rate 28% 30%

Business risk factor (asset beta) 0.45 0.45

Cost of Capital 5.68% 6.28%

Cost of Equity Capital

 Equity Risk factor (equity beta) 0.60 0.67

 Cost of equity 6.74% 7.79%

EVA measures the extent to which a business is performing above or below expectations. A positive EVA means the business is adding value 

after allowing for a normal reward to the providers of capital. 

The EVA reporting framework applied by Airways can be found at: http://www.airways.co.nz/about_Airways/corporate-publications.asp

EVA kEy PERFORmANCE INDICATORS  EVA
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REPORT TO THE READERS OF THE EVA kEy PERFORmANCE INDICATORS OF AIRWAyS CORPORATION OF  
NEW ZEAlAND lImITED AND GROUP FOR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

PricewaterhouseCoopers audit the financial statements of Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited and Group (Airways) on behalf of 
the Auditor-General. PricewaterhouseCoopers has been engaged to provide reasonable assurance over the economic value added (EVA) key 
performance indicators (KPIs) of Airways, detailed on page 96 of this document.  

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBIlITIES

The Directors of Airways are responsible for the preparation of the KPIs, in accordance with the EVA policies and principles adopted by Airways. A 
link to the EVA policies and principles adopted by Airways is provided on page 96 of this document. 

The Directors’ responsibilities include establishing and maintaining a system of internal control relevant to the preparation of the KPIs to ensure 
they are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBIlITIES

Our responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance that the KPIs have been calculated in accordance with the EVA policies and principles 
adopted by Airways.

BASIS OF OPINION

An assurance engagement includes examining, on a test basis, evidence relevant to the KPIs.

Our engagement has been conducted in accordance with International Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (New Zealand)  
“Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”.

We planned and performed our assurance engagement so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in 
order to provide us with sufficient and appropriate evidence to obtain reasonable assurance that the KPIs have been calculated in accordance 
with the EVA policies and principles adopted by Airways.

We have no relationship with or interests in Airways other than in our capacities as assurance providers in conducting this engagement and other 
assurance services, as auditors of Airways on behalf of the Auditor-General and providers of some tax compliance services.

UNQUAlIFIED OPINION 

We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required.

Based on our reasonable assurance engagement, the EVA KPIs on page 96 have been calculated in accordance with the EVA policies and 
principles adopted by Airways.

Our engagement was completed on 30 August 2012 and our opinion is expressed as at that date.

lesley mackle 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 

Wellington, New Zealand

PricewaterhouseCoopers
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Financial Statements

ADDITIONAl FINANCIAl INFORmATION  

DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE 

DIRECTORS’ FEES PAID 1 JUly 2011-30 JUNE 2012

TOTAl REmUNERATION OVER $100,000

Airways has arranged Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance which includes cover for Directors against loss from any claims made against them arising from  

acts in their capacity as Directors. Certain actions are specifically excluded.

REmUNERATION BAND TOTAl STAFF EXECUTIVE/SENIOR mANAGERS OPERATIONAl STAFF

$100,000 - $110,000 71 - 71

$110,000 - $120,000 52 1 51

$120,000 - $130,000 67 2 65

$130,000 - $140,000 53 2 51

$140,000 - $150,000 39 4 35

$150,000 - $160,000 38 2 36

$160,000 - $170,000 62 5 57

$170,000 - $180,000 64 6 58

$180,000 - $190,000 52 4 48

$190,000 - $200,000 19 3 16

$200,000 - $210,000 13 4 9

$220,000 - $230,000 2 1 2

$240,000 - $250,000 1 1 -

$250,000 - $260,000 1 1 -

$270,000 - $280,000 1 1 -

$290,000 - $300,000 1 1 -

$330,000 - $340,000 1 1 -

$460,000 - $470,000 1 1 -

538 40 498

DIRECTOR AmOUNT

S Paterson 56,187

A Briscoe 29,000

S Huria 29,000

T Murdoch 29,000

D Park 35,646

S Putt 29,000

G Reeves 29,000

C Anastasiou 4,833

TOTAl 241,666

Note: The above schedule of Directors’ Fees represents the actual date of payment over the period and therefore may not reflect annualised fees payable. 

98  |  AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011-12



employee photography

ThANk YOU TO ThE fOLLOWINg EmPLOYEES  
WhOSE PhOTOgRAPhS APPEAR IN ThIS REPORT

Mark Costello, Sarah Ross, Geoff Feisst, Christopher Hentschel,  
Mark Adeane, Stewart Cameron, Andrew Flint.
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Directory

BANkERS 
ANZ National Bank Limited 
Bank of New Zealand Limited

AUDITORS 
Lesley Mackle, with the assistance  
of PricewaterhouseCoopers on behalf 
of the Auditor-General

AIRWAYS REgISTERED OffICE 
Level 26, 
Majestic Centre 
100 Willis Street 
PO Box 294 
Wellington 6140 
New Zealand

WEB ADDRESS 
www.airways.co.nz

photograph by andrew Flint 
Airways Principal Technician

When the ‘super moon’ appeared across New Zealand 
skies in early May 2012, Andrew Flint found the perfect 
opportunity to photograph the Auckland Tower against 
the dramatic backdrop.

”I took this photo after a callout for a fault, at about 
1.30am. The super moon definitely added some drama 
and colour to the sky,” Andrew says. This type of large 
moon occurs about once a year, when the moon is 
closest to the earth in its elliptical orbit.


